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Objective

Mithras’s objective is to achieve over the longer term a total return 

in excess of the FTSE All-Share Index with dividends reinvested.

Investment Strategy

Mithras invests in private equity, predominantly management buyouts via limited

partnership funds, across a range of industry sectors.

Dividends

The revenue generated by private equity investments gives Mithras the scope to pay

above average dividends.

Capital Gains

As Mithras is an investment trust, capital appreciation within the Company

is free of tax.

Registered in England & Wales

Number 2478424
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MITHRAS PROFILE
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

TOTAL RETURN ON EQUITY*

FTSE
Mithras All-Share Index

Year ended 31 December 2006 27.6% 16.8%

From flotation on 21 February 1994 to 31 December 2006 197.8% 189.8%

*Group total return after tax before dividends on opening shareholders’1 funds

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

Year ended Year ended % change compared
31 December 2006 31 December 2005 to previous year

Revenue return before tax £1.23 million £1.35 million (8.9)%

Total expense ratio 3.8% 2.5% 52.0%

Net dividends per ordinary share

- final* 2.00 pence 2.00 pence 0.0%

- special** 1.00 pence 1.00 pence 0.0%

- proposed final*** 2.00 pence 2.00 pence 0.0%

- proposed special*** 1.00 pence 1.00 pence 0.0%

Net asset value per ordinary share 109.3 pence 88.0 pence 24.2%

Mid market quoted share price 93.5 pence 81.5 pence 14.7%

*The final dividend of 2.00 pence per ordinary share declared at the 2006 Annual General Meeting
(“AGM”), in respect of the year ended 31 December 2005, was paid in May 2006. The final dividend of
2.00 pence per ordinary share declared at the 2005 AGM, in respect of the year ended 31 December 2004,
was paid in May 2005.

**The special dividend of 1.00 pence per ordinary share declared at the 2006 AGM, in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2005, was in lieu of a 2006 interim dividend and was paid in October 2006. The
special dividend of 1.00 pence per ordinary share declared at the 2005 AGM, in respect of the year ended 
31 December 2004, was in lieu of a 2005 interim dividend and was paid in October 2005.

***A final dividend of 2.00 pence and a special dividend of 1.00 pence per ordinary share are being
proposed in respect of the year ended 31 December 2006 and, if declared by shareholders at the 2007
AGM, will be payable in May 2007 and October 2007, respectively. 

1Referred to as “equity holders” in the Financial Statements and in the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Results

During the year to 31 December 2006 the net asset value

(“NAV”) of Mithras increased from 88.0 pence per share

to 109.3 pence per share, an increase of 24.2%. The total

return on equity was 27.6% (2005: nil) compared to the

Group’s benchmark, the FTSE All-Share Index, which

returned 16.8% (2005: 22.0%). The return since

Mithras’s flotation in 1994 is 197.8% against the

benchmark return of 189.8%.  Mithras generated value

for shareholders of £8.5 million during the year from the

realisation and revaluation of its unquoted investment

portfolio.

The revenue return of £0.9 million was in line with the

prior year. Given the level of cash and revenue reserves,

your Board is recommending that dividends totalling 3.0

pence per share (2005 proposed: 3.0 pence) be paid out

to shareholders utilising all the current year revenue

return and £0.2m of revenue reserves.  Of the total

proposed dividend, 2.0 pence per share will be paid as a

final dividend and 1.0 pence per share paid as a special

dividend in lieu of an interim dividend in 2007. 

The proposed final dividend, if approved by shareholders,

will be paid on 8 May 2007 to shareholders on the register

at the close of business on 9 March 2007. The proposed

special dividend will be paid on 26 October 2007 to

shareholders on the register at the close of business on 29

September 2007.

Overview and Strategy

In May 2006, the Board announced that it was

undertaking a review in relation to the future strategy of

Mithras. After having considered a number of options the

Board concluded that Mithras should continue to be

managed by Legal & General Ventures Limited (“LGV”)

and that its investment strategy should be broadened to

include, alongside an increased commitment to LGV

funds, investments in other private equity funds and listed

private equity vehicles. These proposals were approved at

an Extraordinary General Meeting in December 2006.

The Board also announced that it was investigating the

possibility of establishing a fund of funds management

company to manage the Company’s commitments to

other private equity funds and to attract funds from other

investors. 

In January 2007, the Board signed heads of terms under

which Mithras will acquire a minimum of 80% of

Tandem Private Equity LLP (“Tandem”), to be renamed

Mithras Private Equity LLP (“MPE”).  Tandem is a

recently formed fund of funds investment management

business that was established by Gillian Brown, formerly

head of the private equity funds team at Hermes, who will

become the Chief Executive Officer of MPE on

completion.  

Mithras intends to manage its exposure to non-LGV

unlisted private equity funds by making a commitment of

up to £60 million, as a cornerstone investor, in a fund of

funds to be raised by MPE in 2007. The MPE fund of

funds will have a strategy of investing predominantly in

private equity funds with a buyout focus. Any

commitment made by Mithras to non-LGV unlisted

private equity funds prior to the fund of funds being

established may be transferred into the fund of funds as

part of the cornerstone investment.  

Mithras made two new unquoted investments during the

year via the LGV 5 Private Equity Fund and, in line with

the broadened investment strategy, £2.6 million was

invested in quoted private equity companies.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT CONTINUED

The strategy is to grow the Company organically.

The Board does not consider it appropriate to incur

the costs involved in requesting the authority from

shareholders to repurchase shares for the

forthcoming year.

Board

David Rough will retire at the Annual General

Meeting. He has served the Company with

distinction as a Board member since his

appointment in 1991 and I thank him for his

significant contribution to the development and

success of Mithras. 

Outlook

Mithras has had an exceptional year in terms of

realisations and valuation uplifts, which has resulted

in the NAV reaching 109.3 pence per share, up from

88.0 pence at the beginning of the year. The progress

made in the last few years and the successful

transition into equity investing has built a platform

to allow Mithras to grow further within the

increasingly important private equity sector. The

strategic decisions taken during 2006 are designed to

provide a more diversified and substantial portfolio

as a basis for this growth.

Hamish Leslie Melville

1 March 2007
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REVIEW

UNQUOTED INVESTMENT ACTIVITY

Cost
Company Activity £m

Equity Indirect
IDH (via LGV 5) Dental practice operator 1.1
South Lakeland Parks (via LGV 5) Caravan and lodge park operator 1.1
Jeyes (via LGV 2) Household products manufacturer 0.1

2.3
Equity Direct
Craegmoor Group Residential care 0.3

Total unquoted equity investments 2.6

2006 has seen a strong performance by Mithras both

in terms of cash generation from realisations and

valuation uplifts from the investment portfolio. 

Results for the Year

The Group’s total return for the year was 27.6%

(2005: nil) in comparison to the Group’s benchmark,

the FTSE All-Share Index’s return of 16.8% (2005:

22.0%). The Group’s NAV has increased from 88.0

pence per share to 109.3 pence per share during the

year.

The Board has recommended dividends totalling 3.0

pence per share (2005 proposed: 3.0 pence) due to the

level of cash and revenue reserves held within the Group.

Investment Activity

During the year Mithras made two new unquoted

investments via LGV 5. The two new investments were

£1.1 million in Integrated Dental Holdings (“IDH”)

and £1.1 million in South Lakeland Parks. 

IDH comprises a network of over 130 dental practices

located across the UK providing, predominantly, NHS

services to approximately one million patients and is in

a strong position to benefit from the government’s

drive to improve NHS dental services. LGV 5 invested

£22.2 million in this company. The second investment

made by LGV 5, totalling £22.3 million, was in South

Lakeland Parks which is the leading owner and

operator of holiday parks in the Lake District and

Morecambe Bay regions of the North West of England.  

In addition to the above, Mithras invested a further

£0.1 million into Jeyes which is held via LGV 2 while

£0.2 million was paid into the LGV limited

partnerships to meet future partnership expenses.

LGV 2, LGV 3 and LGV 4 are fully invested, subject

to drawdowns for follow-on investments, with

Mithras’s outstanding commitments to these funds at

31 December 2006 being £0.3 million, £1.5 million

and £2.5 million respectively. During 2005 Mithras

committed £10 million to LGV 5 of which the

outstanding commitment, at 31 December 2006, was

£7.6 million. 

Mithras made a further direct investment of £0.3

million into Craegmoor during the year to provide the

company with additional liquidity.

Due to the cash surplus held, the Group invested a

further £5.0 million in UK gilts, and, in line with the

broadened investment strategy, £2.6 million was

invested in the quoted private equity companies 3i

Group plc and SVG Capital plc. 
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REVIEW CONTINUED

REALISATIONS AND RECAPITALISATIONS

Proceeds
Company Activity £m

Realisations – Equity
Vue Entertainment – via LGV 3 Cinema operator 3.3
The Club Company - via LGV 3 Country clubs 1.6
CPL Industries Solid fuel manufacturer and distributor 0.5
Target Express Parcel delivery service 0.5

5.9

Recapitalisations - Equity
Tragus Group - via LGV 4 Restaurant operator 3.2

Total Realisations and Recapitalisations 9.1

6

Realisations and Recapitalisations 

As a result of favourable market conditions, a number of

investments were realised during 2006. Mithras received

cash proceeds totalling £9.1 million, including rolled up

income of £0.4 million; £5.9 million from the realisation

of four equity investments and £3.2 million from the

recapitalisation of Tragus. 

The four equity realisations were Vue Entertainment, The

Club Company, CPL Industries and Target Express.

Vue Entertainment

Mithras invested £1.9 million in Vue during 2003 via

LGV 3. In June 2006 Vue was sold to HBOS Integrated

Finance with Mithras receiving proceeds of £3.3 million,

giving a return of 1.7 times the cost of investment and a

£1.2 million uplift from the 31 December 2005

valuation. 

The Club Company 

During 2004 and 2005 Mithras invested a total of £1.1

million via LGV 3 in The Club Company, a country

club operator. The business was recapitalised in 2005

returning £0.6 million to Mithras. Mithras received a

further £1.6 million on the sale of the company to

Boundary Capital in June 2006, including rolled up

income of £0.1 million, giving a return of 2.1 times cost

of investment and a £0.8 million uplift from the

December 2005 valuation.

CPL Industries

The residual equity investment in CPL was sold to RBS

in May 2006 with Mithras receiving proceeds of £0.5

million on the investment which had previously been

valued at nil.

Target Express

In December 2006 Mithras realised its investment in

Target Express on the sale of the company to Rentokil

Initial plc, receiving proceeds of £0.5 million on the

investment which had previously been valued at nil.

Recapitalisation - Tragus Group

In May 2006, following a period of profit growth and

cash generation, Tragus was recapitalised enabling LGV

4 to return £3.2 million to Mithras, including rolled up

income of £0.3 million, compared to an original cost of

£1.9 million. Tragus was sold to The Blackstone Group
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REVIEW CONTINUED

7

in December 2006 with LGV 4 distributing the

proceeds, subsequent to the year end, in January 2007.

Mithras’s share of the proceeds was £6.1 million, net of

the performance fee payable under the partnership’s

carried interest scheme. This amount is included within

the value of Mithras’s investment in LGV 4 as at 31

December 2006. The combined proceeds from the

recapitalisation and subsequent sale represent a return of

4.9 times Mithras’s cost of investment and a £5.8 million

uplift from the December 2005 valuation.

Other disposals

In addition to the above realisations and recapitalisation,

five of Mithras’s quoted corporate bond investments

matured during the year, realising a further £7.1 million,

while the residual investment in Unipoly was sold to

management for a notional consideration.

Revaluations/Provisions

During the year Mithras recorded unrealised valuation

uplifts of £9.9 million predominantly in relation to

LM Group, Kingfield Heath, Classic Hospitals, Verna

Group and the profit from the disposal of Tragus,

which was reflected in the value of LGV 4 at 31

December 2006.

Against this, provisions amounting to £4.3 million

were made, principally against Craegmoor, Jeyes, LGC

and with respect to the anticipated performance fees

accrued following the realisations in LGV 3 and LGV

4 during the year. In addition, market conditions led

to a £0.3 million decrease in the value of the UK gilt

and quoted corporate bond portfolio.

Borrowings

It remains Mithras’s policy to offset non-sterling

mezzanine loans by borrowing in the relevant currency

to reduce the impact of foreign exchange movements.

Consistent with this policy, the Group has increased its

borrowings by £2.1 million to £5.6 million to reduce

the currency exposure relating to LM Group, the

Group’s only remaining non-sterling mezzanine

investment which was revalued to par during the year.  

As a result of the realisations noted above the Group’s

net cash position, including UK gilts and quoted

corporate bonds at fair value, increased during the year

from £13.2 million to £15.1 million. 

Investment Trust Status

The HM Revenue and Customs (“HMRC”) approved

Mithras as an investment trust in 2005. This approval

is subject to there being no subsequent enquiry under

Corporation Tax Self Assessment. Your Company was

managed as an investment trust during 2006.

Maintenance of this status in the future will continue

to allow the Company’s capital gains to be reinvested

free of tax.

Outlook

Institutional appetite for the private equity asset class

combined with the continued availability of debt is

pushing prices to levels such that the market continues

to be more favourable for sellers rather than buyers of

businesses. It will take a significant change in

sentiment for these conditions to alter.

A R B Johnson

Chief Executive

Legal & General Ventures Limited

1 March 2007
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CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

AT 31 DECEMBER 2006

Fair Value % of
Investments Description of Business £’000 Portfolio

Direct Unquoted
LM Group – mezzanine Wind turbine blade manufacturer 6,360 17
Craegmoor Healthcare Residential care 1,191 3

7,551 20
Direct Quoted
Treasury 5% 07/03/12 6,624 18
General Electric Capital UK Funding 4.75% 15/06/11 1,871 5
KFW International Finance 4.75% 07/12/10 1,842 5
SNCF 5% 30/12/10 1,773 5
3i Group plc Private equity 1,523 4
SVG Capital plc Private equity 1,134 3

14,767 40
Indirect Unquoted 
LGV 2 Private Equity Fund Limited Partnership Limited partnership fund 310 1
LGV 3 Private Equity Fund Limited Partnership Limited partnership fund 1,899 5
LGV 4 Private Equity Fund Limited Partnership Limited partnership fund 10,322 28
LGV 5 Private Equity Fund Limited Partnership Limited partnership fund 2,229 6

Total Investment Portfolio 37,078 100

Mithras’s share of LGV 2 consists of the following investments:
Jeyes Household products manufacturer 330 1
Net current liabilities held in the fund (20) –

310 1

Mithras’s share of LGV 3 consists of the following investments:
LGC Group Analytical and diagnostic testing 1,677 5
Total Fitness Health and fitness operator 526 1
Net current liabilities held in the fund (304) (1)

1,899 5

Mithras’s share of LGV 4 consists of the following investments:
Kingfield Heath Business supplies wholesaler 2,116 6
Classic Hospitals Hospital operator 1,963 5
Verna Group Medical products manufacturer 1,217 3
Net current assets held in the fund 5,026 14

10,322 28

Mithras’s share of LGV 5 consists of the following investments:
IDH Dental practice operator 1,108 3
South Lakeland Parks Caravan and lodge park operator 1,116 3
Net current assets held in the fund 5 –

2,229 6

Geographical Spread of Investments
by Currency Exposure

United Kingdom 30,718 83
Continental Europe 6,360 17

37,078 100
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CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO CONTINUED

AT 31 DECEMBER 2006

Industrials
31%

Health Care
17%

Financials
40%

Investment Portfolio by FTSE Industry Sector

Investment Portfolio as a % of Gross Assets at Fair Value

Unquoted
Equity
25%

Quoted
Bonds
26%

Current Assets
29%

Consumer
Services
11%

Mezzanine
14%

Consumer
Goods
1%

Quoted Equity
6%
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TEN LARGEST INVESTMENTS

This table is prepared to show the largest investments, both direct and indirect via the LGV funds.
At the base of the table the total investments made via the LGV funds are also disclosed.

Percentage Fair value Cost
of portfolio at at

Security valuation 31 December 2006 31 December 2006
Name type % £’000 £’000

Treasury 5% 07/03/12 UK Gilt 18 6,624 6,726

LM Group* Mezzanine loan** 17 6,360 5,718

Kingfield Heath Equity 6 2,116 1,574

Classic Hospitals Equity 5 1,963 1,774

General Electric Capital UK

Funding 4.75% 15/06/11 Quoted Corporate Bond 5 1,871 1,921

KFW International Finance

4.75% 07/12/10 Quoted Corporate Bond 5 1,842 1,893

SNCF 5% 30/12/10 Quoted Corporate Bond 5 1,773 1,921

LGC Group Equity 5 1,677 1,307

3i Group plc Equity 4 1,523 1,506

Verna Group Equity 3 1,217 1,123

73 26,966 25,463

LGV 2 Partnership Fund 1 310 1,117
LGV 3 Partnership Fund 5 1,899 2,929
LGV 4 Partnership Fund 28 10,322 4,617
LGV 5 Partnership Fund 6 2,229 2,370

* The valuation change on this investment includes currency movement.

**Mezzanine loans are offset by currency borrowings to reduce the impact of foreign exchange movements.
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TEN LARGEST INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Latest Profit/
Percentage year-end loss Share

Fair value of audited before capital
at Basis equity Dividends Earnings financial interest and

31 December 2005 of held per share per share statements and tax reserves
£’000 valuation % pence pence available £m £m

1,741 Bid market n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

3,924 Fair value 0.0 n/a (1.5) 31 December 2005 14.5 72.3

for the 61 weeks
1,574 Fair value 3.9 n/a 214.3 ended 31 December 11.6 2.6

2005

1,774 Fair value 4.5 n/a (887.2) 31 December 2005 (1.2) (1.2)

1,935 Bid market n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

1,906 Bid market n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

1,842 Bid market n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

2,126 Fair value 3.3 n/a (15.7) 31 March 2006 7.6 (1.4)

n/a Bid market 0.0 15.2 152.0 31 March 2006 927.0 4,006.0

1,123 Fair value 4.6 n/a (176.8) 31 March 2006 3.7 (0.5)

326 Fair value n/a n/a n/a 30 September 2006 n/a n/a
5,575 Fair value n/a n/a n/a 30 September 2006 n/a n/a
7,761 Fair value n/a n/a n/a 30 September 2006 n/a n/a

– Fair value n/a n/a n/a 30 September 2006 n/a n/a
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REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS

LM Group

Valuation: £6.4m

(2005: £3.9m)

In July 2001, Mithras participated in the mezzanine

tranche of the buyout of LM Group. LM is

headquartered in Denmark and specialises in the

design and manufacture of fibreglass and carbon fibre

blades for wind turbines which produce clean

renewable electricity. LM is currently the world’s

leading supplier of blades for wind turbines and has

manufactured 86,000 blades over the last 28 years. It

has blade-manufacturing facilities in 4 major regions,

Northern Europe, Southern Europe, North America

and Asia. This ensures LM is close to the most

important wind energy markets and that customers

benefit from rapid, efficient, on-time delivery.

As at 31 December 2006, the warrants are valued at nil

and the mezzanine loan is valued at fair value. 

Kingfield Heath

Valuation: £2.1m

(2005: £1.6m)

In December 2004, LGV completed the buyout of

Kingfield Heath, one of the two leading office supplies

wholesalers in the UK, who between them supply 10%

of the total UK office products market. The business

has an experienced management team which has been

strengthened by LGV. The strategy is to grow sales

made to existing customers into new product areas as

well as widening the customer base into new channels. 

As at 31 December 2006, the investment is valued at

fair value based upon the forecast results for the year

ended 31 December 2006.
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REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

LGC Group

Valuation: £1.7m

(2005: £2.1m)

In April 2004, LGV completed the buyout of LGC,

the UK’s leading independent analytical and

diagnostic testing services business. LGC provides

analytical testing services around its core testing

competencies which cover food regulation, forensic

science, pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and

chemicals. The company is also involved in the

distribution of reference materials to laboratories

worldwide. LGV’s strategy is to support organic

growth and pursue complementary acquisitions in this

fast-growing market. During 2005, the company

made three acquisitions, the largest being Forensic

Alliance Limited.

As at 31 December 2006, the investment is valued at

fair value based upon actual results for the year ended

31 March 2006.

Classic Hospitals

Valuation: £2.0m

(2005: £1.8m)

In July 2005, LGV completed the acquisition of nine

hospitals from BUPA, comprising 8 freeholds and 1

long leasehold. The hospitals source patients from

private medical insurers, self pay and the NHS. Classic

is the fifth largest independent hospital operator in the

UK and now comprises ten hospitals following the

first bolt-on acquisition, the Lourdes Hospital in

Liverpool, in July 2006. LGV assembled a

management team to acquire the assets and completed

the deal following several months of exclusivity and

planning for the transition away from BUPA systems.

As at 31 December 2006, the investment is valued at

fair value based upon forecast results for the year

ended 31 December 2006.
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REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Verna Group

Valuation: £1.2m

(2005: £1.1m)

In April 2005, LGV led the buyout of the Verna Group.

The group originally comprised six separate divisions.

Verna’s core division, Vernacare, manufactures and

distributes disposable bed pans and holds a significant

market share in the UK. Verna’s Care Shop division is

one of the largest healthcare mail order suppliers in the

UK. LGV has supported management in the

rationalisation and simplification of the group and the

remaining four non-core divisions have been sold –

Verna Community Care, Karomed, Vernaware and

Vernagene.

As at 31 December 2006, the investment is valued at

fair value based upon actual results for the year ended

31 March 2006.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who were in office at the end of the year

are listed below.

Chairman

Hamish Leslie Melville

Aged 62, is a managing director and chairman of the

European Investment Banking Committee of Credit

Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited. He is chairman of

JP Morgan Fleming Mercantile Investment Trust Plc

and a director of Persimmon Plc. 

Appointed 1994.

Directors

William Maltby

Aged 47, is European Head of Leveraged Finance and

Financial Sponsors at Deutsche Bank. He is a qualified

accountant with an extensive career history in

corporate finance.

Appointed 2005.

David Rough

Aged 56, is chairman of Brown Shipley Plc and its

subsidiary KBL Investment Funds Limited and is a

non-executive director of BBA Group Plc, EMAP Plc,

Land Securities Plc and XSTRATA. He was formerly

the group director (Investments) of Legal & General

Group Plc and a director of Legal & General Ventures

Limited.               

Appointed 1991.

Mike Wooderson

Aged 53, is chief executive of the Europe and North

America trading division of HBOS Group Plc. He is a

director of a number of Bank of Scotland subsidiary

and joint venture companies. He joined the Bank of

Scotland in 1997 from The Royal Bank of Scotland

Plc. 

Appointed 2001.

All Directors are members of the Nomination, Audit

and Management Engagement Committees and are

non-executive.

All Directors are independent of the Manager in

accordance with the provisions of the Combined

Code.

Mithras06.qxp  9/3/07  19:06  Page 15



16

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their Report

and audited Financial Statements for the Group for the

year ended 31 December 2006. The Group comprises

Mithras Investment Trust plc ("Mithras" or the

"Company") and its wholly owned subsidiary, Mithras

Investments Limited.

Business Review

This business review has been prepared in accordance

with the requirements of Section 234 ZZB of the

Companies Act 1985, Schedule 7 Part I of the

Companies Act 1985 and current best practices. The

objective of the Directors has been to provide a balanced

and comprehensive review that is consistent with the size

and complexity of the business. As an externally managed

investment trust company, Mithras has no employees and

delegates most of its functions to third party service

providers. Accordingly your Board has focused this review

on the Company’s financial performance for the year

ended 31 December 2006.

The Business Review is addressed only to shareholders as

a body, and no liability can be admitted by the Directors

to any other parties in connection therewith. The purpose

of the Business Review is limited to its statutory purpose,

namely to assist shareholders in assessing the Company’s

strategies and the potential for those strategies to succeed.

Any forward-looking statements contained in the

Business Review reflect the knowledge and information

available to the Directors at the date the Business Review

was prepared. The Business Review will not be updated

during the next financial year, but any forward-looking

statements contained in the Business Review will be

considered in the preparation of the next Business Review.  

Operating environment

Mithras's principal activity is investing in private equity in

accordance with the investment strategy set out on page

1. A description of the Group’s activities during the 

year is given in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 3 to 4

and in the Investment Manager’s Review on pages 5 to 7.

Mithras is an investment company as defined by

Section 266 of the Companies Act 1985. Since

flotation in February 1994, the Directors have sought

to conduct the affairs of the Company so that it

satisfies the conditions for approval as an investment

trust set out in Section 842 of the Income &

Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (“ICTA”), and

confirmation has been received from the HMRC that

the Company has complied with these requirements

for all accounting periods up to and including 31

December 2005. This approval is subject to there

being no subsequent enquiry under Corporation Tax

Self Assessment. In the opinion of the Directors, the

Company has subsequently conducted its affairs so

that it should continue to qualify. The Company is not

a close company within the terms of the ICTA.

The current portfolio of the Company is such that its

shares are eligible for inclusion in an Individual

Savings Account, and the Directors expect this

eligibility to be maintained.

Performance

A number of performance measures are considered by

the Board and the Investment Manager in assessing the

Company’s success in achieving its objectives. The key

performance indicators (“KPIs”) used to measure the

progress and performance of the Company over time

are established industry measures and are as follows:

• Movement in net asset value

• Movement in share price

• Total return on equity

• Dividends per share

• Total Expense Ratio

Details of the Company’s performance against these

KPIs can be found in the Performance Summary on

page 2. 

In addition to the above KPIs, the Board monitors the

activity in the Company’s shares and any discount to

the net asset value.
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The Investment Manager considers the governance

practices of investee companies in their broadest sense,

which includes social, environmental and ethical factors

where these may affect the company’s financial

performance. The Investment Manager engages in

dialogue with investee companies through its voting and

shareholder process, to encourage adoption of better

practices. At all times, the driving investment principle

remains to be the maximisation of performance for a

given level of risk.  

Financial position

The results for the year are set out in the Consolidated

Income Statement on page 33. The Directors are

recommending the payment of a final dividend of 2.0p

per ordinary 2p share and a special dividend of 1.0p per

ordinary 2p share. The final dividend will be paid on 8

May 2007 to shareholders on the register of members at

the close of business on 9 March 2007. The special

dividend will be paid on 26 October 2007 to shareholders

of the register at the close of business on 29 September

2007.

The net asset value per ordinary share, at 31 December

2006, was 109.3p (2005: 88.0p).

Current and future developments 

Details of the Company’s key developments during the

year to 31 December 2006 are set out in the Chairman’s

Statement and Investment Manager’s Review on pages 3

to 4 and 5 to 7 respectively. 

Schedule 7 Part I of the Companies Act 1985 requires

that the Directors provide an indication of the “likely

future developments in the business of the company”.

Details of the Company’s outlook are contained within

the Chairman’s Statement on pages 3 to 4 as well as the

Investment Manager’s Review on pages 5 to 7. These are

in no way intended to be a detailed forecast. 

Principal risks and uncertainties 

The Company has established a risk management

framework within the context of the Company’s overall

objective to achieve over the longer term a total return in

excess of the FTSE All-Share Index. The Board and the

Audit Committee are responsible for the risk

management framework, which enables the Company to

assess the overall risk exposure of the Company and to

successfully manage such risk.

Financial risk

Within the context of the Company’s overall objective,

the Board has identified the principal financial risks,

which are set out in note 25 to the Financial Statements

on pages 62 to 63.

Operational risks

As the Company’s main functions are delegated to third

party service providers, operational risk arises from

inadequate processes of internal control. This would

include, for example, compliance with statute and

regulation governing the functions of the Company.  

Operational risks are assessed by the Board, which receives

timely reports from its main service providers as to the

internal control processes in place within those

organisations, which serve to minimise the risk exposure

to the Company. The Board and the Audit Committee

annually review the internal control reports of the

Company’s service providers, produced in accordance

with Financial Reporting and Auditing Guidance.  

Investment and strategy risks

An inappropriate investment strategy, for example

inappropriate asset allocation, may lead to under-

performance against the Company’s benchmark index

and peer companies. The investment strategy of the

Company is periodically reviewed by the Board. The

Board considers at each meeting the performance of the

investment portfolio and has established investment

restrictions and guidelines within which the Investment

Manager operates.  

Market risk

Market risk arises from volatility in the prices of the

Company’s quoted investments. It represents the

potential loss to the Company through the holding of

investments in the face of negative market movements.
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The Board has set investment restrictions and guidelines

that are monitored and reported against by the

Investment Manager. The Board as a whole periodically

considers the asset allocation. 

Accounting, legal and regulatory risk

In order to qualify as an investment trust, the Company

must comply with Section 842 of the ICTA. Details of

the Company’s approval are given under ‘Operating

environment’ above. Should the Company be in breach

of Section 842 of the ICTA, it may lose its investment

trust status and as a consequence gains within the

Company’s portfolio would be subject to Capital Gains

Tax. The Investment Manager monitors the Section 842

of the ICTA qualification criteria and provides a report to

the Board at each meeting.  

As an entity listed on the London Stock Exchange, the

Company must also comply with the Listing Rules of the

Financial Services Authority (“FSA”). Breach of the FSA

Listing Rules may result in the shares of the Company

being suspended from listing which in turn would be a

breach of Section 842 of the ICTA. The Board relies on

its Company Secretary and professional third party

advisers to ensure compliance with law and regulation.  

Life of the Company

The Company has no limited life provisions in its Articles

of Association.

Share Capital

The authorised and issued share capital of the Company

is detailed in note 18 to the Financial Statements. 

At the Annual General Meeting  (“AGM”) on 10 May

2006, shareholders gave approval for the Company to

purchase up to 5,439,468 ordinary 2p shares in its own

capital, for cash, being 14.99% of the share capital at the

date of the 2005 Annual Report. The Company did not

utilise this authority during the year to 31 December

2006.

Directors

The Directors of the Company, who held office at the end

of the year under review, and their biographical details are

set out on page 15. 

The Board has agreed a formalised arrangement for the

timely refreshment of its membership, in line with the

principles of the Combined Code on Corporate

Governance (the “Combined Code”). In accordance with

this policy Mr Rough will retire at the forthcoming AGM

of the Company and will not be standing for re-election. 

In accordance with the principles of the Combined Code,

Mr Leslie Melville is to retire and, being eligible, will be

seeking re-election by shareholders at the forthcoming

AGM. The Nomination Committee, having reviewed the

performance of Mr Leslie Melville  and his contribution

to the operation of the Company, concluded that the

Company benefited from his services, and accordingly,

recommended to the Board that a resolution be put to

shareholders at the 2007 AGM that Mr Leslie Melville be

re-elected. The Board concurred with the Nomination

Committee's recommendation and recommends that

shareholders vote in favour of Mr Leslie Melville’s 

re-election. 

18
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFICIAL AND FAMILY INTERESTS

At 31 December 2006 At 31 December 2005
Ordinary shares Ordinary shares

Beneficial Non-beneficial Beneficial Non-beneficial

I H Leslie Melville 405,000 – 405,000 –
Sir John Guinness* – – 203,000 –
W J Maltby 20,000 – – –
D Rough 124,661 – 124,661 –
M Wooderson 25,000 – 25,000 –

*Sir John Guinness retired on 10 May 2006
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None of the Directors has a contract of service with the

Company.

There have been no changes to the above holdings

between 31 December 2006 and to the date of this

report. 

None of the Directors, nor any persons connected with

them, had a material interest in any of the Group’s

transactions, arrangements or agreements during the year

to 31 December 2006.

The Bank of Scotland is one of the principal bankers to

the Group. Mr Wooderson, as chief executive of the

Europe and North America trading division of HBOS

Group Plc, has no direct involvement in the provision of

credit facilities to the Group. The Bank operates effective

"Chinese Walls" to ensure that no such involvement can

take place. 

Management Agreements

The Group's investments are managed by Legal &

General Ventures Limited ("LGV") under agreements

dated 28 July 2004 (as amended) and 19 December

1995 (as amended) with the Company and its subsidiary

respectively. Under the terms of the Investment

Management Agreements, management fees are payable

quarterly in arrears by the Group at rates varying between

0.5% per annum and 2% per annum of the values of the

Group's assets, dependent upon asset type.

The Investment Manager does not receive a fee on assets

for which it receives a fee under the partnership

agreements. The agreements may be terminated by either

party at not less than one year's notice without penalty.

During the year ended 31 December 2006, LGV 

received fees (inclusive of VAT) from the Group

amounting to £281,957 (2005: £353,151) (see note 5 to

the Financial Statements).

Company secretarial services have been delegated by

BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited to their wholly

owned subsidiary, BNP Paribas Secretarial Services

Limited. BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited

receives a fee of £25,669 per annum excluding VAT. The

contract may be terminated by either party giving not

less than six months’ written notice at any time.

Continuing Appointment of the Investment Manager

Having reviewed the Investment Manager’s performance

throughout the financial year, the Board is satisfied with

the Investment Manager’s continued ability to produce

satisfactory results. Accordingly the Board believes that

the continued appointment of the Investment Manager,

on its current terms, is in the interest of shareholders. 

Creditor Payment Policy and Practice

It is the Company’s payment policy to obtain the best

possible terms for all business and therefore there is no

consistent policy as to terms used. The Company agrees

with its suppliers the terms on which business will take

place and it is the policy to abide by those terms.

Payment is made on these terms normally within 30

working days provided the supplier meets its obligations.

At 31 December 2006 there were no trade creditors

outstanding (2005: nil).

Going Concern

The Directors have agreed that it is appropriate to

continue to adopt the going concern basis in the

preparation of the Financial Statements, as after due

consideration, the Directors are of the opinion that the

Group has adequate resources to continue in operational

existence for the foreseeable future.

Independent Auditors

The Independent Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers

LLP, have expressed their willingness to continue in office

as Auditors. The Audit Committee has responsibility for

making a recommendation to the Board on the re-

appointment of the external Auditors. After careful

consideration of the services provided to the Group

during the year and a review of the effectiveness of the
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As at the date of this report the Company had received notification of the following interests exceeding 3%
of the ordinary share capital of the Company:

Beneficial Owner No. of Shares % of Share Capital

Legal & General Assurance Society Limited 12,583,845 34.68

Uberior Investments plc 5,233,000 14.42

East Riding of Yorkshire Council 3,500,000 9.65

A R B Johnson 1,395,030 3.84

By order of the Board
BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited

Secretary
1 March 2007

external Auditor, the Audit Committee recommended

to the Board that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP should

be re-appointed as Auditors to the Group. Accordingly,

resolutions are to be proposed at the forthcoming

AGM for their reappointment, and to authorise the

Directors to agree their remuneration for the ensuing

year.

Annual General Meeting

The seventeenth AGM of the Company will be held

on Tuesday, 1 May 2007 at Trinity House, Tower Hill,

London EC3N 4DH at 12.00 noon. 

Increase in Directors’ Fees

During the year the Board reviewed the level of the fees

payable to the Directors and concluded that in order to

attract and retain non-executive Directors of the

highest calibre, and in view of additional obligations as

a result of the Company’s revised investment strategy,

it would be appropriate for the Company to increase

the level of remuneration for Directors.

Accordingly a resolution to amend the Company’s

Articles of Association, which sets out the maximum

amount permitted to be paid to the Directors, is to be

proposed at the forthcoming AGM. 

Authority to Allot Shares and Disapply Pre-

emption Rights

The current authority for Directors to allot authorised

but unissued ordinary shares without first offering

them to existing shareholders in accordance with

statutory pre-emption procedure will expire at the

forthcoming AGM. The Directors believe it to be in

shareholders’ interests to continue to have such an

authority for the forthcoming year and accordingly

will seek to renew the authority to allot shares and to

disapply pre-emption rights at the forthcoming AGM. 

Information to Auditors

The Directors who held office at the date of approval

of this Directors' report confirm that, so far as they are

each aware, there is no relevant audit information of

which the Company's Auditors are unaware and each

Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have

taken as Directors to make themselves aware of any

relevant audit information and to establish that the

Company's Auditors are aware of that information.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company law in the United Kingdom requires the

Directors to prepare financial statements for each

financial period, which give a true and fair view of the

state of affairs of the Group and of its profit and loss

for the period. In preparing these Financial

Statements, the Directors are required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and apply them

consistently;

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable

and prudent;

• State whether applicable accounting standards have

been followed, subject to any material departures

disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements;

and

• Prepare the Financial Statements on the going

concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume

that the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper

accounting records which disclose with reasonable

accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Group and which enable them to ensure the Financial

Statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.

They have general responsibility for taking such steps

as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets

of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and

other irregularities. 

The Directors confirm that the accounts comply with

the above requirements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Background

The UK Listing Authority requires all listed companies to

disclose how they have applied the principles and complied

with the provisions of the Combined Code, as issued by

the Financial Reporting Council in July 2003 and updated

in June 2006. In addition, the AITC Code of Corporate

Governance (the "AITC Code") was issued by the

Association of Investment Companies and provides

specific corporate governance guidelines to investment

companies.   

Corporate Governance Principles

Throughout the year to 31 December 2006, the Board

conducted the affairs of the Company in accordance with

the provisions of the Combined Code, subject to the

exceptions explained in this statement below and its special

circumstances as an investment trust company, and the

principles of the AITC Code. The Board considers matters

of Corporate Governance to be of utmost importance and

strives to observe the requirements of these Codes. It

should be noted that as the Company is an investment

trust, all the Directors are non-executive and most of the

Company’s day-to-day responsibilities are delegated to

third party service providers.

Board Responsibilities 

The Board is responsible for determining the strategic

direction of the Company. It meets at least four times per

year to review the performance of the Company's

investments, the financial position of the Company, its

performance in line with the agreed investment objective

and all other important issues to ensure control is

maintained over the Company’s affairs and that it operates

within a framework of prudent and effective controls. A

schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board for its

decision has been adopted.

As recommended by the AITC Code, the Board sets the

boundaries within which the Investment Manager

operates. The Board has delegated the following

responsibilities to the Investment Manager: development

of strategic plans and the taking of decisions as to the

investment of the portfolio assets of the Company.

Representatives of the Investment Manager attend each

Board meeting, enabling the Board to review the

Investment Manager's performance against the

Company's investment objective, portfolio risk and the

attribution analysis. In addition, their attendance affords

the Board the opportunity to seek clarification on

specific issues. The Board takes responsibility for the

content of major corporate communications and the

Investment Manager informs the Board of any relevant

promotional material that is issued. 

The Board has formalised arrangements under which the

Directors, in furtherance of their duties, may take

independent professional advice at the Company's

expense. It is the Chairman's responsibility to ensure that

the Directors have sufficient knowledge to fulfil their

role and Directors are encouraged to participate in

training courses as appropriate. 

All Directors who served throughout the financial year

attended the four Board meetings, together with the

Management Engagement and Nomination Committee

meetings, and the three Audit Committee meetings

convened during the year under review. 

The Chairman

There is a clear division of responsibility between the

Chairman, the Directors, the Investment Manager and

the other third party service providers. No one individual

has unfettered powers of decision. 

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and

ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of its role and for

ensuring that the Directors receive accurate, timely and

clear information. The Chairman also ensures that there
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is effective communication with shareholders. The

Chairman at the time of his appointment was, and

remains, independent of the Investment Manager.

Details of the Chairman's professional commitments are

included in his biography on page 15. Whilst the

Chairman has been appointed to other non-executive

roles, the Board is satisfied that these do not interfere

with the performance of his duties to the Company. 

Senior Independent Director

During the year under review, it was agreed by the Board

that, given the small size of the Board, the opportunity

for open discussions and the breadth of investment,

commercial and professional knowledge of each Director

enabling them to address any concerns conveyed to

them, there was not a need to appoint a Senior

Independent Director at the current time. This matter is

reviewed annually.

Directors and Directors' Independence 

At the year end the Board comprised the Chairman and

three Directors. As the Board is comprised solely of non-

executive directors, there is no chief executive position

within the Company. The names of the Directors who

were in office at the end of the financial year, together

with their biographical details are set out on page 15. 

The Board annually reviews the continued independence

of its Directors. Mr Rough was appointed to the Board

of the Company in 1991 and Mr Leslie Melville in 1994.

These Directors have, therefore, been connected with the

Company for sixteen and thirteen years, respectively. In

line with the requirements of the Combined Code, the

Board has considered the independence of these

Directors with particular care. Messrs Leslie Melville and

Rough have significantly contributed to the success of

the Company through their individual skills and

considerable knowledge of both the Company and the

industry. Both have provided continuity and an overall

balance to the Board and have demonstrated a strong

independence in the manner in which they have

discharged their responsibilities as Directors throughout

the financial year. The Board has, therefore, decided that,

in the absence of any other relevant factors, Messrs Leslie

Melville and Rough are independent, non-executive

Directors. However, being mindful of the requirement

for the refreshing of the skills and experiences of the

Directors, Messrs Leslie Melville and Mr Rough have

agreed the latest dates by which they will retire from the

Board. Accordingly, Mr Rough is to retire from the

Board at the 2007 AGM, and will not be standing for re-

election.  

The Board considers that all Directors are independent

in character and judgement. For the purposes of the

Combined Code and the AITC Code, with the

exception of Mr Rough, who was an employee of the

Investment Manager until 2001, no non-executive

Director:

• has been an employee of the Investment Manager

within the last five years;

• has, or has had within the last three years, a material

business relationship with the Company;

• receives remuneration other than a Director's fee;

• has close family ties with any of the Company's

advisers;

• holds cross directorships or has significant links with

companies within the Investment Portfolio; or

• represents a significant shareholder.

Professional Development

On appointment, new Directors will take part in an

induction programme, which covers the Group's

investment strategy, policies and practices. New

Directors will also receive information on the role of the

Board and the matters reserved for its decision, the terms

of reference for the Board committees, the Company's

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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corporate governance practices and procedures and the

latest financial information. Throughout their time in

office, Directors are continually updated on the Group's

business, the regulatory environment in which it operates

and other changes affecting the Group, by its advisers

through written briefings and at Board meetings.

Performance Evaluation

The Board has formalised a process by which to evaluate

its own performance and that of the Chairman on an

annual basis. This process is based upon a self-assessment

questionnaire of the Board's and the Directors' strengths

and weaknesses. The overall results are discussed with the

Board, with the Chairman making recommendations to

improve performance where necessary. The Board

considers annually, in the absence of the Chairman,

matters pertaining to his performance.   

Re-election

Directors are appointed subject to the provisions of the

Companies Act 1985 and the Company's Articles of

Association. The re-appointment of a Director is

reviewed by the Nomination Committee prior to a

Director seeking re-election at an impending AGM. 

Re-appointment is not automatic and is subject to a

review of performance. All Directors are subject to

election by shareholders at the first AGM after their

appointment. Thereafter, all Directors are subject to re-

election in accordance with the Articles of Association.

No Director would serve more than 3 years in office

without shareholder approval.

Directors' Remuneration

The Board as a whole considers Directors' remuneration

in accordance with the limits set by the Articles of

Association and a separate Remuneration Committee has

not been established. Under Listing Rule 15.4.15R (2),

where an investment trust company has only non-

executive directors, the Combined Code principles

relating to Directors' remuneration do not apply. 

During the year under review, the Chairman was paid a

fee of £25,833 and the fee for each of the other Directors

who served throughout the year was £15,833 with the

exception of Mr Wooderson who received an additional

£417 in respect of his role as the chairman of the Audit

Committee. Sir John Guinness received remuneration on

a pro-rated basis for the period from 1 January 2006 until

the date of his resignation from the Board on 10 May

2006. 

The Board considered the level of fees payable to

Directors during the year and considered that in order to

attract and retain non-executive Directors of the highest

calibre; to reflect the additional obligations as a result of

the Company’s revised investment strategy; and in view of

the fact that the fees have remained static since 1996, that

the level of fees be increased.

Board Committees

In order to enable the Directors to discharge their duties,

three Board Committees, with written terms of reference,

have operated throughout the year. Committee

membership is set out on page 15 of this report.

Attendance at the meetings of the various Committees is

restricted to members and those persons expressly invited

to attend. Copies of the terms of reference for the Board

Committees are available from the Company Secretary. 

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee operates within clearly defined

terms of reference and provides a forum through which

the Company's external Auditors report to the Board.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee

include monitoring the integrity of the Company's

Financial Statements and appropriateness of its

accounting policies; reviewing the internal control

systems and the risks to which the Company is exposed;

and making recommendations to the Board regarding

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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the appointment of the external Auditor, the

independence and objectivity of the Audit firm and the

effectiveness of the audit process. In accordance with the

recommendations of the Combined Code, the Audit

Committee's terms of reference were reviewed during the

financial year. 

Mr Wooderson was appointed as the chairman of the

Audit Committee in August 2001. The other members

comprise all the independent, non-executive Directors.

All members of the Committee have relevant financial

and investment experience, for the purposes of the

Combined Code requirements, as a result of their

current or recent employment in the financial services

and other industries. As the chairman of the Committee,

Mr Wooderson has relevant and recent financial

experience as a result of his position as chief executive of

the Europe and North America trading division of

HBOS Group Plc. The Secretary to the Audit

Committee is BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited.

As the Company has no employees there is no dedicated

resource to the Audit Committee. However,

representatives from LGV, who produce the financial

information for the Company, are invited to attend and

present on issues as required. 

The Audit Committee regularly monitors the non-audit

services provided to the Group by its external Auditors,

and has developed a formal policy on auditor

independence to ensure that such services do not impair

the independence or objectivity of the Auditors. The

policy is based on the following key principles: 

The Auditor should not:

• audit its own firm's work;

• make management decisions for the Company;

• have a mutuality of financial interest with the

Company, or

• be put in the role of advocate for the Company.

Prior approval of the Committee is required for any

services provided by the external Auditors where the fee

is likely to be in excess of £10,000. In any case, activities

that may be perceived to be in conflict with the role of

the external Auditor must be submitted to the

Committee for approval prior to engagement, regardless

of the amounts involved. 

Details of the amounts paid to the external Auditors

during the financial year, for audit and other services are

set out in the Notes to the Financial Statements on page

47. 

In addition to the above, the Audit Committee

discharged its responsibilities during the year under

review by:

• reviewing the Company's draft Financial Statements

and interim results statement prior to Board

approval;

• reviewing the decision to disapply the requirement

for the Company to establish an internal audit

function;

• reviewing the appropriateness of the Company's

accounting policies; and

• reviewing the Company's decision to rely on the

whistleblowing procedures of the main service

providers and assessing the adequacy of these

procedures.

The Audit Committee convened three meetings during

the financial year ended 31 December 2006. All

Committee members attended the meetings. 

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has defined terms of

reference and is responsible for identifying and

nominating to the Board new Directors, and for

proposing that existing Directors be re-elected. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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The Nomination Committee comprises all members of

the Board and is chaired by Mr Leslie Melville, except on

those occasions when the Committee is reviewing the

performance of the Chairman. In such instances, an

independent, non-executive Director chairs the

Committee. The Nomination Committee meets

annually and all Directors attended the meeting held

during the year under review. 

Management Engagement Committee

The Management Engagement Committee was

established to review the performance of the third party

service providers, including the Investment Manager,

and to review their terms of appointment. The

Committee meets annually and is chaired by Mr Leslie

Melville. The Committee consists of all the non-

executive Directors of the Company. All Committee

members attended the meeting held during the year

under review. 

The Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the

Board, through the Chairman, on all governance matters

and ensuring compliance with applicable rules,

regulations and Company procedures. The Directors

have access to the advice and services of the Company

Secretary through its appointed representatives. The

appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a

matter for the whole Board.

Information

The Board is regularly provided with information to

enable it to discharge its duties. The Investment

Manager provides such information as requested by the

Board in addition to timely clarification or amplification

of specific issues from time to time. The Company

Secretary is responsible for ensuring good information

flows.

Relations with Shareholders

The Directors are always available to enter into dialogue

with shareholders and the Company places a great deal

of importance upon such communications. The

Investment Manager, together with the Chairman if

requested, is available to meet with the Company's

institutional shareholders to discuss matters of the

Company's investment strategy, performance and

governance. Discussions with shareholders are reported

to the Board. 

All shareholders have the opportunity to attend and vote

at the AGM during which the Board and the Investment

Manager are available to discuss issues affecting the

Company. Proxy votes are declared at AGMs. As part of

the AGM, a presentation is made to shareholders on the

Company’s performance and prospects. Shareholders are

encouraged to attend the 2007 AGM and to vote on the

resolutions detailed in the Notice of the Meeting

contained in this report. 

The Company discloses the full portfolio annually and

the top ten holdings are disclosed to the London Stock

Exchange at each quarter end.

The Report and Financial Statements are published on

www.legalandgeneralventures.com, which is the website

maintained by the Investment Manager, Legal &

General Ventures Limited. The work undertaken by the

Auditors does not involve consideration of the

maintenance and integrity of the website and,

accordingly, the Auditors accept no responsibility for any

changes that have occurred to the financial accounts

since they were initially presented on the website.

Visitors to the website need to be aware that legislation

in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and

dissemination of the accounts may differ from legislation

in other jurisdictions. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

Internal Controls

The Combined Code requires the Directors, at least

annually, to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the

Company’s systems of internal control and to report to

shareholders that they have done so. This encompasses a

review of all controls, which the Board has identified as

including business, financial, operational, compliance and

risk management.

The Board is responsible for the Company’s systems of

internal control and for reviewing their effectiveness.

Internal control systems are designed to meet the

particular needs of the Company and the risks to which

it is exposed. They are designed to manage rather than

eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives

and by their very nature provide reasonable but not

absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The Audit Committee considers annually whether there

is any need for an internal audit function. As all of the

Company's functions are delegated to third parties, and

at least the two major suppliers, LGV and BNP Paribas

Fund Services UK Limited, have their own internal audit

function, it has been agreed that it is appropriate for the

Company to rely on the internal audit controls which are

in place at these companies. Accordingly, it has been

agreed that it would be inappropriate for Mithras to have

an internal audit function.

The Investment Manager and Company Secretary have

established internal control frameworks to provide

reasonable assurance on the effectiveness of the internal 

controls operated on behalf of their clients. LGV reports

to the Board on the operation of its internal controls and

risk management, in so far as it impacts on the

Company, and in addition, reports on compliance

within the terms of its delegated authority under the

investment management agreement on a quarterly basis.

The Company Secretary also reports any breaches of law

and regulation as and when they arise. This enables the

Board to address any issues of concern promptly,

regarding the management of the Company as and when

they arise.

By the procedures set out above, and in accordance with

the Turnbull Guidance for Directors on the Combined

Code published by the Institute of Chartered

Accountants in England & Wales, the Directors have

kept under review the effectiveness of the Company’s

internal controls throughout the year under review and

up to the date of this report. 

Statement of Compliance

The Directors have reviewed the principles of the

Combined Code and consider that, subject to the

exceptions listed above (with regard to the appointment

of a Senior Independent Director) and its specific

circumstances as an investment trust company, the

Company has complied with the provisions of Section 1

of the Combined Code for the year ended 31 December

2006 and up to the date of this report. The Company

has also complied with the guidelines of the AITC Code,

with the exception of the recommendation concerning

the appointment of a Senior Independent Director. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON REMUNERATION

The Directors are pleased to present their report on

remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2006,

in accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration

Report Regulations 2002 (the "Regulations").

The Group's Auditors are required to report on certain

information contained within this report. Where

information set out below has been audited, it is

indicated as such. The Auditors' opinion is included

within the Auditors' Report on pages 31 and 32.

The Board comprises entirely of independent, non-

executive Directors and as a whole considers the

remuneration of Directors. Accordingly, it has not

appointed a separate Remuneration Committee. In

accordance with the Company’s Articles of

Association, new Directors are required to stand for

election at the first AGM following their appointment

and thereafter, are required to retire by rotation, so that

over a three-year period all Directors will have retired

from the Board and been offered up for re-election. No

Director has a contract of service with the Company.

The terms and conditions of the appointment of the

Directors are set out in the Directors’ letters of

appointment. A Director may resign by notice in

writing to the Board at any time; there is neither a

fixed notice period nor any entitlement to

compensation for loss of office. 

Policy on Directors’ Remuneration

The Company’s policy is for the Chairman of the

Board to be paid higher fees than the other Directors,

to reflect the more onerous role, and for the Directors'

fees to be reviewed from time to time. It is the

Company’s policy that no Director shall be entitled to

any benefits in kind, share options, long-term

incentives, pension or other retirement benefits, or

compensation for loss of office. The Board considers it

appropriate that no aspect of Directors' remuneration

should be performance related in light of the Directors'

non-executive status. Directors are entitled to claim

expenses in respect of duties undertaken in connection

with the management of the Company and any

associated tax liabilities.

The Company’s Articles of Association for the time

being limit the fees payable to the Directors to

£100,000 per annum and a resolution is to be put to

shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, which if

approved, will increase this limit to £150,000. The

Company's policy is that fees payable to the Directors

should reflect the time spent on the Company's affairs

and the responsibilities borne by the Directors and

should be sufficient to attract and retain candidates of

a high calibre. 

The Board reviewed the level of fees paid to Directors

during the year, taking into account fees payable to

Directors of investment trust companies with a

comparable investment objective, and in keeping with

the increasing responsibilities of the Directors

concluded that it would be appropriate for the level of

fees for the forthcoming year to be increased to

£35,000 for the Chairman, £30,000 for the Chairman

of the Audit Committee and £25,000 for the other

Directors.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is held

by the Company in respect of the Directors and is

renewed annually.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

DIRECTORS’ FEES (AUDITED)

The Directors who served during the year received the following emoluments:

31 December 2006 31 December 2005
£ £

I H Leslie Melville1 25,833 25,000

Sir John Guinness* 5,435 15,000

W J Maltby 15,833 1,250

D Rough 15,833 15,000

M Wooderson2 16,250 15,000

*Sir John Guinness resigned as a Director of the Company on 10 May 2006.

1These amounts were paid to Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) together with a charge for VAT at 17.5%.

2These amounts were paid to Bank of Scotland, together with a charge for VAT at 17.5%.

None of the Directors serve as directors of the Company’s subsidiary, Mithras Investments Limited.

No other remuneration or compensation was paid or payable by the Company during the year to any of

the current Directors. Mr Leslie Melville received reimbursement of expenses of £148 (2005: £1,313),

relating to costs incurred in respect of Board meeting attendance during the year and duties undertaken in

connection with the management of the Company. No reimbursement was made to any other Director in

this regard. 
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MITHRAS PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE FTSE ALL-SHARE INDEX

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

FTSE All-Share Index Total ReturnMithras Total Return

Performance Graph

In accordance with the Regulations, the performance

graph below charts the cumulative share price total

return (assuming that all dividends are reinvested) to

ordinary shareholders since 31 December 2001. This

return is compared to the cumulative total shareholder

return on a notional investment in the FTSE All-Share

Index, which is the portfolio benchmark against which

the Company's performance is measured. The data has

been rebased to 100 at 31 December 2001 (the start of

the period covered by the graph).

By the order of the Board

Hamish Leslie Melville

Chairman

1 March 2007

Source:  Datastream 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE

MEMBERS OF MITHRAS INVESTMENT TRUST PLC

We have audited the Consolidated and Company

Financial Statements (the ‘‘Financial Statements’’) of

Mithras Investment Trust plc for the year ended 31

December 2006 which comprise the Group Income

Statement, the Consolidated and Company

Statements of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated

and Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and

Company Cash Flow Statements and the related notes.

These Financial Statements have been prepared under

the accounting policies set out therein. We have also

audited the information in the Directors’

Remuneration Report that is described as having been

audited.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual

Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the

Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law

and International Financial Reporting Standards

(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out

in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Financial Statements

and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to

be audited in accordance with relevant legal and

regulatory requirements and International Standards on

Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the

opinion, has been prepared for and only for the

Company’s members as a body in accordance with

Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no

other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept

or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any

other person to whom this report is shown or into

whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by

our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the

Financial Statements give a true and fair view and

whether the Financial Statements and the part of the

Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have

been properly prepared in accordance with the

Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group

Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We also report to you whether in our opinion the

information given in the Directors' Report is consistent

with the Financial Statements. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the

Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we

have not received all the information and explanations

we require for our audit, or if information specified by

law regarding directors’ remuneration and other

transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance

Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the

nine provisions of the Combined Code 2003 specified

for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial

Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are

not required to consider whether the Board’s statements

on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate

governance procedures or its risk and control

procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual

Report and consider whether it is consistent with the

audited Financial Statements. The other information

comprises the Performance Summary, Chairman’s

Statement, Investment Manager’s Review, Consolidated

Investment Portfolio, Ten Largest Investments, Review

of Principal Investments, the Directors’ Report, the

unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report

and the Corporate Governance Statement. We consider

the implications for our report if we become aware of

any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies

with the Group. Our responsibilities do not extend to

any other information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE

MEMBERS OF MITHRAS INVESTMENT TRUST PLC CONTINUED

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with

International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit

includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence

relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the

Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’

Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an

assessment of the significant estimates and judgments

made by the Directors in the preparation of the

Financial Statements, and of whether the accounting

policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s

circumstances, consistently applied and adequately

disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain

all the information and explanations which we

considered necessary in order to provide us with

sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that

the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’

Remuneration Report to be audited are free from

material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or

other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we

also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation

of information in the Financial Statements and the

part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be

audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:

• the Group Financial Statements give a true and fair

view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the

European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs

as at 31 December 2006 and of its profit and cash

flows for the year then ended;

• the parent Company Financial Statements give a

true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as

adopted by the European Union as applied in

accordance with the provisions of the Companies

Act 1985, of the state of the parent Company’s

affairs as at 31 December 2006 and of its cash flows

for the year then ended; 

• the Financial Statements and the part of the

Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited

have been properly prepared in accordance with

the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group

Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS

Regulation; and

• the information given in the Directors' Report is

consistent with the Financial Statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

London

1 March 2007
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Year ended 31 December 2006 Year ended 31 December 2005
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income

Investment income
Net gains/(losses) on investments 3 2,290 8,158 10,448 2,220 (1,069) 1,151

Other income 4 216 – 216 203 – 203

2,506 8,158 10,664 2,423 (1,069) 1,354

Expenses

Investment management fees 5 (374) (374) (748) (217) (217) (434)

Other operating expenses 6 (586) – (586) (406) – (406)

Total operating expenses (960) (374) (1,334) (623) (217) (840)

Profit/(loss) before finance costs and tax 1,546 7,784 9,330 1,800 (1,286) 514

Finance costs 8 (318) – (318) (450) – (450)

Finance revenue 8 – 86 86 – 443 443

Finance costs - net (318) 86 (232) (450) 443 (7)

Profit/(loss) before tax 1,228 7,870 9,098 1,350 (843) 507

Tax (expense)/credit 9 (348) 65 (283) (453) (56) (509)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the Company 880 7,935 8,815 897 (899) (2)

Basic and diluted earnings per 
ordinary share (pence) 11 2.4 21.9 24.3 2.3 (2.3) 0.0

The total column of this statement represents the Group’s Income Statement, prepared in accordance with IFRS.
The supplementary revenue return and capital return columns are both prepared under the guidance published by
the Association of Investment Companies. All items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

The Company has elected to take the exemption under Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 to not present
the parent Company Income Statement.

The notes on pages 40 to 64 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Capital Capital Capital
Share Share Redemption Reserve Reserve Revenue

Capital Premium Reserve Realised Unrealised Reserve Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2005 restated*
(notes 18, 19) 835 8,598 – 49,265 (28,490) 7,122 37,330

(Loss)/profit for the year – – – (12,456) 11,557 897 (2)

Equity dividends (note 10) – – – – – (1,198) (1,198)

Purchase of own shares 
for cancellation
(notes 18, 19) (109) – 109 (4,200) – – (4,200)

At 31 December 2005
(notes 18, 19) 726 8,598 109 32,609 (16,933) 6,821 31,930

Profit for the year – – – 3,951 3,984 880 8,815

Equity dividends (note 10) – – – – – (1,089) (1,089)

At 31 December 2006
(notes 18, 19) 726 8,598 109 36,560 (12,949) 6,612 39,656

*Restated for change in accounting policies on first-time adoption of IFRS.

The notes on pages 40 to 64 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Capital Capital Capital
Share Share Redemption Reserve Reserve Revenue

Capital Premium Reserve Realised Unrealised Reserve Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2005 restated*
(notes 18, 19) 835 8,598 – 50,915 (26,399) 3,381 37,330

Profit/(loss) for the year – – – 102 (1,113) 1,009 (2)

Equity dividends (note 10) – – – – – (1,198) (1,198)

Purchase of own shares 
for cancellation
(notes 18, 19) (109) – 109 (4,200) – – (4,200)

At 31 December 2005
(notes 18, 19) 726 8,598 109 46,817 (27,512) 3,192 31,930

Profit for the year – – – 3,023 4,956 836 8,815

Equity dividends (note 10) – – – – – (1,089) (1,089)

At 31 December 2006
(notes 18, 19) 726 8,598 109 49,840 (22,556) 2,939 39,656

*Restated for change in accounting policies on first-time adoption of IFRS.

The notes on pages 40 to 64 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

31 December 31 December
2006 2005

Notes £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Investments 12 37,078 34,121

37,078 34,121
Current assets

Trade and other receivables 13 134 135

Cash and cash equivalents 14 8,577 1,956

8,711 2,091

Total assets 45,789 36,212

Current liabilities

Borrowings 16 (5,621) (38)

Trade and other payables 15 (285) (172)

Current tax liabilities (17) (481)

(5,923) (691)

Total assets less current liabilities 39,866 35,521

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 16 – (3,469)

Deferred tax liabilities 17 (210) (122)

(210) (3,591)

Net assets 39,656 31,930

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 18, 19 726 726

Share premium 19 8,598 8,598

Capital redemption reserve 19 109 109

Capital reserve - realised 19 36,560 32,609

Capital reserve - unrealised 19 (12,949) (16,933)

Revenue reserve 19 6,612 6,821

Total equity 39,656 31,930

Net assets per ordinary share (pence) 20 109.3 88.0

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 1 March 2007.

They are signed on the Board’s behalf by:

Hamish Leslie Melville Mike Wooderson
Chairman Director

The notes on pages 40 to 64 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

31 December 31 December
2006 2005

Notes £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Investments 12 34,620 32,276

34,620 32,276

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 13 134 135

Cash and cash equivalents 14 8,355 1,811

8,489 1,946

Total assets 43,109 34,222

Current liabilities

Borrowings 16 (1,897) –

Trade and other payables 15 (273) (153)

Current tax liabilities (17) (481)

(2,187) (634)

Total assets less current liabilities 40,922 33,588

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 16 – –

Deferred tax liabilities 17 (210) (122)

Provision for liabilities and charges 17 (1,056) (1,536)

(1,266) (1,658)

Net assets 39,656 31,930

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 18, 19 726 726

Share premium 19 8,598 8,598

Capital redemption reserve 19 109 109

Capital reserve - realised 19 49,840 46,817

Capital reserve - unrealised 19 (22,556) (27,512)

Revenue reserve 19 2,939 3,192

Total equity 39,656 31,930

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 1 March 2007.

They are signed on the Board’s behalf by:

Hamish Leslie Melville Mike Wooderson
Chairman Director

The notes on pages 40 to 64 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year Year
ended ended

31 December 2006 31 December 2005
Notes £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Dividend income received 170 –

Interest income received 1,562 2,100

Deposit interest received 212 218

Investment management fee paid (746) (504)

Other income 3 –

Other operating expenses (465) (408)

Income taxes paid (658) (363)

Purchase of investments 12 (10,503) (12,232)

Sale of investments 12 16,168 18,259

Net cash from operating activities 5,743 7,070

Cash flows from financing activities

Purchase of own shares for cancellation – (4,200)

Net increase/(decrease) in term loans 2,209 (7,832)

Finance costs paid (234) (338)

Equity dividends paid (1,089) (1,198)

Net cash from/(used) in financing activities 886 (13,568)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 6,629 (6,498)

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 1,956 8,459

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (8) (5)

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year 14 8,577 1,956

The notes on pages 40 to 64 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year Year
ended ended

31 December 2006 31 December 2005
Notes £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Dividend income received 170 –

Interest income received 1,562 2,049

Deposit interest received 204 208

Investment management fee paid (699) (405)

Other income 3 –

Other operating expenses (461) (402)

Income taxes paid (658) (363)

Purchase of investments 12 (10,502) (12,232)

Sale of investments 12 16,650 16,283

Loan to subsidiary (487) (4,441)

Net cash from operating activities 5,782 697

Cash flows from financing activities

Purchase of own shares for cancellation – (4,200)

Net increase/(decrease) in term loans 1,896 (1,547)

Finance costs paid (38) (62)

Equity dividends paid (1,089) (1,198)

Net cash from/(used) in financing activities 769 (7,007)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 6,551 (6,310)

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 1,811 8,118

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (7) 3

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year 14 8,355 1,811

The notes on pages 40 to 64 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Mithras Investment Trust plc (the "Company") is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the
Companies Act 1985. The address of the registered office is given on page 68. The Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2006 comprise the Company and its subsidiary,
Mithras Investments Limited (together referred to as the "Group"). The nature of the Group’s operations and its
principal activities are set out in note 2.3 and in the Directors’ Report on page 16.

The Financial Statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 1 March 2007.

The Financial Statements are presented in pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Group operates.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of Preparation
The Financial Statements of the Group and Company have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted for use by the European Union, International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations and the Companies Act 1985 applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS.

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historic cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Investments are held at fair value and all other
assets and liabilities are held at carrying amounts, which approximate to their fair values unless otherwise
stated. In determining the analysis of total income and expenses as between capital return and revenue return,
the Directors have followed the guidance contained in the Statement of Recommended Practice (the “SORP”)
for investment trusts issued by the Association of Investment Companies in January 2003 (revised December
2005), to the extent that this is not inconsistent with the requirements of IFRS.

In order to better reflect the activities of an investment trust company, supplementary information which
analyses the Income Statement between items of a revenue and capital nature has been presented alongside
the Income Statement. In accordance with the Company’s status as a UK investment company under Section
266 of the Companies Act 1985, net capital returns may not be distributed by way of dividend.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The most
significant techniques for estimation are described in the accounting policies below and in note 2.2 (f )
“Investments”.

The principal accounting polices adopted in preparing these Financial Statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2006 but not relevant

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards are mandatory for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006 but they are not relevant to the Group’s operations:

• IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee benefits;

• IAS 21 (Amendment), Net investment in a foreign operation;

• IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions;

• IAS 1 (Amendment), First-time adoption of international financial reporting standards and IFRS 6, 
(Amendment), exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources;

• IFRIC 4, Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease;

• IFRIC 5, Rights to interests arising from decommissioning, restoration and environmental 
rehabilitation funds; and

• IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market - Waste electrical and electronic 
equipment.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the results, assets and liabilities, and cash flows of the Company
and its subsidiary, Mithras Investments Limited (“MIL”), which is directly controlled by the Group. All intra group
transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

(c) Foreign currency translation/transactions
(i) The Group’s functional currency is pounds sterling since that is the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the Group operates. The presentation currency is also pounds sterling.

(ii) Transactions in currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At each balance sheet date financial assets and liabilities, denominated in foreign currencies, are
translated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses arising on translation are included in the
Income Statement and presented as revenue or capital as appropriate.

(d) Recognition of income
Investment income includes net gains/(losses) on investments, while interest income on cash and cash equivalents is
shown as other income in the revenue return column of the Income Statement.

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and using the effective
interest rate method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the investment to that investment’s net carrying amount. Provision is made for the element of interest income
which is not expected to be received.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment has been
established, normally the ex-dividend date. Provision is made for any dividends not expected to be received.

Income from limited partnership funds is recognised on an appropriation basis. The limited partnership funds
allocate income once a year, after the general partners’ priority profit share has been allocated in the partnerships’
annual tax returns

(e) Expenses
All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. In respect of the analysis between revenue and capital items
presented within the Income Statement, all expenses have been presented as revenue items except as follows:
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont/d.)
(i) Expenses which are incidental to the disposal of an investment are deducted from the disposal proceeds of the
investment.

(ii) Expenses are split and presented partly as capital items where a connection with the maintenance or
enhancement of the value of the investments can be demonstrated. Accordingly, the investment management fee
(inclusive of the appropriated limited partnership funds’ general partners’ priority profit share and any
irrecoverable VAT thereon) has been allocated 50% to revenue and 50% to capital. Tax relief attributable to the
investment management fees charged to capital is credited to the capital return. The Directors consider this
apportionment to be appropriate, having regard to the expected split of the long-term investment returns as
between revenue and capital.

(iii) Transaction costs are disclosed within the net gains and losses on investments.

(f) Investments 
Purchases and sales of investments are accounted for at settlement date for unquoted investments and trade date for
quoted investments. On initial recognition, the Group and the Company have designated all investments, including
investment in the subsidiary, as held at fair value through profit or loss, with all gains and losses reflected in the
Income Statement, including foreign currency gains and losses on translation of investments at balance sheet date.

The fair values of quoted bond and quoted equity investments are valued at bid market prices, together with
accrued interest, where applicable.

Significant investments made by the Company in limited partnership funds managed by 
Legal & General Ventures Limited (“LGV”) are accounted for as unquoted investments. The Company
incorporates its attributable proportion, as a limited partner, of the assets and liabilities and income and
expenses of these funds.

The fair value of unquoted investments is calculated in accordance with the International Private Equity and
Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines, which became effective from 1 January 2005.

The Group manages and evaluates the performance of these investments on a fair value basis in accordance with
its investment strategy and information about the Group is provided internally on this basis to the entity’s key
management personnel.

The valuation policies are set out below:

• Primary valuation methods, namely, earnings multiples, price of a recent investment or net asset basis, are
normally used in determining fair value.

• Fair values determined by earnings multiples are calculated using the following approach:

– apply a multiple that is appropriate and reasonable to maintainable earnings of the company to
derive the Enterprise Value;

– adjust the Enterprise Value derived above for surplus assets or excess liabilities and other 
relevant factors to derive a revised Enterprise Value;

– deduct from the Enterprise Value all amounts relating to financial instruments ranking ahead 
of the highest ranking instrument of the Group in a liquidation in order to derive the Gross 
Attributable Enterprise Value;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont/d.)
– apply an appropriate Marketability Discount to the Gross Attributable Enterprise Value

derived above in order to derive the Net Attributable Enterprise Value; and

– apportion the Net Attributable Enterprise Value appropriately between the relevant financial
instruments.

Earnings multiples that are used include price earnings ("P/E"), earnings before interest and tax ("EBIT") and
earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation ("EBITDA"). 

The Marketability Discount relates to the investment rather than to the underlying business. It is therefore applied
at the level at which the Group begins to participate in the Enterprise Value of the investee company. In
determining the Marketability Discount, all relevant factors will be considered, including proximity to exit or
influence of the Group over the timing of a realisation, and a discount in the range of 10% to 30% will be applied.

Maintainable earnings are defined as earnings figures that can be relied upon. This can mean the use of historical
figures, but, where reliable, forecast earnings figures can be used.

• In circumstances where the valuation of an investment by earnings is deemed inappropriate, the
use of a net asset basis may be considered. Under this method, the net asset value will be computed and will
be taken as the Enterprise Value.

• Where a recent investment or transaction has been made in an investee company by an
independent third party, then the cost of this transaction may be used as an indication of value,
although only for a limited period following the date of the transaction.

• Where the realisation of an investment is imminent and the price of the transaction has been 
substantially agreed, the most likely valuation will involve the use of a simple discount to the
expected realisation proceeds.

• Where an investment comprises solely or substantially non-equity instruments such as mezzanine
loans, fair market value can be derived from the expected cash flows and risk attached to the 
instrument. In the case of valuing mezzanine loans, discounted cash flow techniques have been
applied to the instrument cash flows and are used to determine fair market value. These
discounted cash flow techniques are applied in conjunction with primary valuation techniques
such as earnings and net asset valuations and provide a useful cross-check on fair value.

• Where mezzanine loan investments have equity warrants attached, the warrants are treated as
equity and are valued separately from the mezzanine loan.

(g) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables do not carry any interest and are short-term in nature and are accordingly stated at
nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts.

(i)  Borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges,
including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals
basis in the Income Statement using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the
instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont/d.)
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(j) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

(k) Capital reserves
The capital return component of total income is taken to the non-distributable capital reserves within the
Statement of Changes in Equity.

(l) Taxation
Tax recognised in the Income Statement represents the sum of current tax and deferred tax charged or credited in
the period. In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the tax effect of different items of expense is allocated
between revenue and capital on the same basis as the particular item to which it relates, using the marginal
method.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on the difference between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the Financial Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Investment trusts
which have approval as such under Section 842 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 are not liable for
taxation on capital gains.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the
liability settled based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Income Statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(m) Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders.

(n) Share capital
When the Company purchases its own shares the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable
costs, is deducted from equity until the shares are cancelled or realised.

2.3 Segment Reporting
The Group is engaged in a single segment of business, focusing on achieving over the longer term a total return
in excess of the FTSE All-Share Index with dividends reinvested. The Group makes investments into various
geographical areas and the information about the total gains and losses on investments and fair value of them by
geographical location is presented in notes 3 and 12 to the Financial Statements.

Analysis of other income and expenses by geographical region has not been given as either it is not possible to
prepare such information in a meaningful way or the results are not considered to be significant.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

3. NET GAINS/(LOSSES) ON INVESTMENTS

Group Group
Quoted Investments Unquoted Investments Year ended Year ended

Limited 31.12.06 31.12.05
Bonds Equity Partnerships Equity Mezzanine Total Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Realised (losses)/
gains on sale (250) – 3,639 663 – 4,052 (11,840)

Revaluations recognised
in prior periods 118 – (1,889) 319 – (1,452) 11,311

Realised (losses)/gains
in current year (132) – 1,750 982 – 2,600 (529)

Fair value movements† 555 22 5,382 (939) 2,942 7,962 1,812

Net foreign currency 
losses on investments – – – – (114) (114) (132)

423 22 7,132 43 2,828 10,448 1,151

Comprising:
Revenue return 756 – 487 290 757 2,290 2,220

Capital return (333) 22 6,645 (247) 2,071 8,158 (1,069)

†Includes interest income on investments during the year. The total fair value movement estimated using a valuation

technique was an increase of £5,873,000 (2005: a decrease of £461,000).

Transaction costs on investments represents such costs incurred on both the purchase and disposal of those assets.

Group Group
Quoted Investments Unquoted Investments Year ended Year ended

Limited 31.12.06 31.12.05
Bonds Equity Partnerships Equity Mezzanine Total Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Segmental Analysis

UK 89 22 7,132 43 – 7,286 (107)

Denmark – – – – 2,828 2,828 609

France 85 – – – – 85 131   

Germany 126 – – – – 126 157

Netherlands 37 – – – – 37 79

US 24 – – – – 24 122

Japan 66 – – – – 66 81

Other (4) – – – – (4) 79

423 22 7,132 43 2,828 10,448 1,151
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

3. NET GAINS/(LOSSES) ON INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

During the year, material disposals and fair value movements of the following investments were made:-

Disposals Total Fair Value
Cost Proceeds 31 December 2005

£’000 £’000 £’000

Vue Entertainment 1,939 3,342 2,119

Tragus Group 1,872 9,072 3,252

The Club Company 447 1,534 775

Fair value movements Fair value
increase/ Fair Value

Cost (decrease) 31 December 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000

LM Group 5,271 2,185 3,924

Kingfield Heath 1,574 542 1,574

Classic Hospitals 1,774 189 1,774

Verna Group 1,123 94 1,123

Craegmoor Healthcare 4,065 (1,229) 1,845

LGC Group 1,307 (449) 2,126

Jeyes 1,097 (212) 397

4. OTHER INCOME

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2006 31 December 2005
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deposit interest 213 – 213 203 – 203

Other operating income 3 – 3 – – –

216 – 216 203 – 203
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5. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT FEES

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2006 31 December 2005
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investment management fees 120 120 240 150 150 300

Irrecoverable VAT thereon 21 21 42 27 27 54

141 141 282 177 177 354

General partners’ priority profit share 233 233 466 40 40 80

374 374 748 217 217 434

Management fees are payable by the Group at rates varying between 0.5% per annum and 2% per annum of
the values of the Group’s assets, dependent upon the asset type. The rates per annum are 0.5% for cash and
cash equivalents; 1% for mezzanine, gilts, quoted corporate bonds, quoted equity and amounts invested in
non-LGV limited partnership funds; and 2% for unquoted equity not invested in LGV limited partnership
funds. For the investments in limited partnership funds, general partners’ priority profit share of 1.5% of the
amount committed is appropriated in the first year, followed by 1.5% in the second and subsequent years on
amounts invested and reserved for follow on investments. Details of the terms of the investment management
agreement are provided in the Directors’ Report on page 19.

6. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2006 31 December 2005
£’000 £’000

Auditors’ remuneration - audit 69 66

Auditors’ remuneration - other services 72 50

Directors’ emoluments (note 7) 86 78

Other administrative expenses 346 203

Exchange loss 13 9

586 406

Auditors' remuneration for other services relate to tax services - £nil (2005: £50,114), assistance on first-time
adoption of IFRS - £45,825 (2005: £nil) and interim review - £25,263 (includes fee of £11,750 for the review
of 2005 interim report) (2005: £nil). The audit fees were borne by the parent Company in both years. 

Mithras has had no employees in either year.
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7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of each Director paid by Mithras, in respect of qualifying services to the Group, were as
follows:

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2006 31 December 2005
£’000 £’000

I H Leslie Melville 26* 25*

M Wooderson 16* 15*

Sir John Guinness 5 15 

D Rough 16 15

T J Breedon – –

W Maltby 16 1

VAT 7 7

86 78

*these fees exclude VAT at 17.5%.

Until his resignation on 16 November 2005, Mr T J Breedon received emoluments from Legal & General
Investment Management (Holdings) Limited and Legal & General Group plc with regard to his service to those
companies. A proportion of these emoluments was charged to LGV in respect of the management of the
Company. In 2005, this totalled £13,094. The Company is not involved in the determination of these
emoluments and is only obliged to pay the Directors’ fees disclosed above.

The emoluments of the highest paid Director amounted to £25,833 excluding VAT (2005: £25,000 excluding
VAT).
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Mithras06.qxp  9/3/07  19:06  Page 48



49

8. FINANCE COSTS/(REVENUE)

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2006 31 December 2005
£’000 £’000

Finance costs
Bank loans 318 450

Finance revenue
Exchange gains on borrowings (86) (443)

9. TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2006 31 December 2005
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

UK corporation tax at 30%
(2005: 30%):

Current tax for the year 363 (132) 231 453 28 481

Adjustments in respect of 
prior periods (4) (32) (36) – – –

Total current tax 359 (164) 195 453 28 481

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal
of timing differences (11) 99 88 – 28 28

Tax charge/(credit) on
ordinary activities 348 (65) 283 453 56 509

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Mithras06.qxp  9/3/07  19:06  Page 49



50

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

9. TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) CONTINUED

Factors affecting the current tax charge for the period: 

The effective current tax rate for the period is lower (2005: higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax
in the UK for a company 30% (2005: 30%). The differences are explained below:

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2006 31 December 2005
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Return on ordinary activities
before taxation 1,228 7,870 9,098 1,350 (843) 507

Corporation tax at 30% 368 2,361 2,729 405 (253) 152

Effects of:

Adjustments to tax charge in 
respect of prior periods (4) (32) (36) – – –

Difference between taxable and
accounting gains and losses (5) (2,143) (2,148) 48 363 411

Utilisation of tax losses – (350) (350) – (82) (82)

Current tax charge/(credit)
for the period 359 (164) 195 453 28 481

Factors which may affect future tax charges:

The Group has net unrelieved realised and unrealised losses and expenses carried forward of £19,703,000
(2005: £20,871,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses or expenses as at 
31 December 2006 or 31 December 2005, as it is considered more likely than not that there will be no
suitable profits emerging in future periods against which to relieve them.

Relief for these losses and expenses will only be obtained if there are suitable income and gains arising in future
periods.

The potential deferred tax asset unrecognised as at 31 December 2006 is £5,911,000 (2005: £6,261,000).

In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used to calculate the tax relief on
expenses charged to capital is the “marginal” basis. Under this basis, to the extent that taxable income is
capable of being offset by expenses arising in the revenue account, no tax relief is taken in the form of expenses
charged to the capital account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

10. DIVIDENDS

The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2006 31 December 2005

£’000 £’000

Final: 2.00p (2005: 2.00p) per ordinary 2p share 726 835

Special: 1.00p (2005: 1.00p) per ordinary 2p share 363 363

The final dividend of 2.00 pence per share, for the year ended 31 December 2005, was paid on 17 May 2006
on 36,287,312 shares.

The special dividend of 1.00 pence per share, for the year ended 31 December 2005 in lieu of a 2006 interim
dividend, was paid on 27 October 2006 on 36,287,312 shares. 

The following dividends were proposed by the Company and are subject to approval by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting. These proposed dividends have not been included as liabilities in these Financial
Statements.

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2006 31 December 2005

£’000 £’000

Proposed final: 2.00p (2005: 2.00p) per ordinary 2p share 726 726

Proposed special: 1.00p (2005: 1.00p) per ordinary 2p share 363 363

11. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2006 31 December 2005

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital
Return Return Total Return Return Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Earnings for the purposes of basic and
diluted earnings per share being net 
profit attributable to equity holders 880 7,935 8,815 897 (899) (2)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
for the purpose of calculating basic and 
diluted earnings per share 36,287,312 38,985,192

Basis and diluted earnings per ordinary 
share (pence) 2.4 21.9 24.3 2.3 (2.3) 0.0
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

12. MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS

Group Group
Quoted Investments Unquoted Investments Year ended Year ended

Limited 31.12.06 31.12.05
Group Bonds Equity Partnerships Equity Mezzanine Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fair value at 1.1.06 14,690 – 13,662 1,845 3,924 34,121 41,110

Movements in the year:

Purchases at cost 4,998 2,635 2,536 333 1 10,503 12,232

Sales  - proceeds (7,093) – (8,083) (992) – (16,168) (18,259)

- realised gains (132) – 1,750 982 – 2,600 (533)

Fair value movements†± (353) 22 4,895 (977) 2,549 6,136 (297)

Unrealised currency
movements – – – – (114) (114) (132)

Fair value at 31.12.06 12,110 2,657 14,760 1,191 6,360 37,078 34,121

Opening cost 15,215 – 12,941 3,795 5,413 37,364 54,834

Closing cost 12,460 2,635 11,033 4,065 5,718 35,911 37,364

Segmental Analysis

UK 6,624 2,657 14,760 1,191 – 25,232 17,248

Denmark – – – – 6,360 6,360 3,924

France 1,773 – – – – 1,773 3,564

Germany 1,842 – – – – 1,842 3,459

US 1,871 – – – – 1,871 1,935   

Other – – – – – – 3,991

Fair value at 31.12.06 12,110 2,657 14,760 1,191 6,360 37,078 34,121

† Includes capitalised interest of £571,000 (2005: £564,000).

± Includes accrued interest movements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

12. MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Group Group
Quoted Investments Unquoted Investments Year ended Year ended

Limited 31.12.06 31.12.05
Company Bonds Equity Partnerships Equity Mezzanine Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fair value at 1.1.06 14,690 – 13,662 – 3,924 32,276 35,982

Movements in the year:

Purchases at cost 4,998 2,635 2,536 333 – 10,502 12,232

Sales  - proceeds (7,093) – (8,083) (537) (937) (16,650) (16,283)

- realised gains (132) – 1,750 526 (19) 2,125 (585)

Fair value movements†± (353) 22 4,895 (9) 1,902 6,457 1,062

Unrealised currency
movements – – – – (90) (90) (132)

Fair value at 31.12.06 12,110 2,657 14,760 313 4,780 34,620 32,276

Opening cost 15,215 – 12,941 14,373 5,413 47,942 51,706

Closing cost 12,238 2,635 11,033 14,416 4,295 44,617 47,942

†Includes capitalised interest of £302,000 (2005: £357,000).

± Includes accrued interest movements.

Includes subsidiary undertaking at book cost of £13,940,000 (2005: £13,940,000).

The Company owns 100% of the issued ordinary share capital and voting rights of MIL, which is registered in
England and Wales and whose business is the provision of equity and mezzanine finance. The investment in MIL was
valued at nil at 1 January 2006 and 31 December 2006.

£’000

Investment in subsidiary undertaking at cost

Brought forward at 1 January 2006 13,940

Investment during year –

Carried forward at 31 December 2006 13,940
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13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2006 2005 2006 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Due within one year:

Prepayments and accrued income 134 135 134 135

Loan to subsidiary† – – 10,947 10,431

Less provisions – – (10,947) (10,431)

134 135 134 135

†The loan to subsidiary is interest free and payable on demand.

14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2006 2005 2006 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 377 276 155 131

Short-term deposits 8,200 1,680 8,200 1,680

8,577 1,956 8,355 1,811

The effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 5.1% (2005: 4.4%) and these deposits have an average
maturity of 13 days.

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2006 2005 2006 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current - due within one year:

Accruals 285 172 273 153

285 172 273 153

54
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

16. BORROWINGS

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2006 2005 2006 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current - due within one year:

Unsecured term loan 5,592 – 1,887 –

Accrued interest 29 38 10 –

Due after more than one year:

Unsecured term loan – 3,469 – –

5,621 3,507 1,897 –

The unsecured term loan, from a revolving credit facility of £10 million, is repayable by June 2007. Interest
accrues at 1.85% over LIBOR or EURIBOR. This loan can be drawn in any currency which the facility
agent confirms is available in the London foreign exchange market.

17. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2006 2005 2006 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred tax 210 122 210 122

Provision for subsidiary liabilities
(see note 22) – – 1,056 1,536

210 122 1,266 1,658

The provision for deferred tax consists of the following amounts due to the difference between tax and
accounting gains:

Group and Company
£’000    

At 31 December 2005 122

Additional provisions during the year 88

At 31 December 2006 210
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

18. SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company Group and Company
31 December 2006 31 December 2005
£’000 Number £’000 Number

Authorised ordinary shares of 2p each 1,000 50,000,000 1,000 50,000,000

Allotted, called-up and fully paid
ordinary shares of 2p each 726 36,287,312 726 36,287,312

During the year the Company did not repurchase any ordinary 2p shares for cancellation (2005: 5,466,855
for a consideration of £4,200,000).

The Company has one class of ordinary share which carries no right to fixed income.

19. EQUITY

Group Share Capital Capital Capital
Share premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue

capital account reserve realised unrealised reserve
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2005 726 8,598 109 32,609 (16,933) 6,821

Revenue return for the year – – – – – 880

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,089)

Transfer on disposals of investments – – – 1,452 (1,452) –

Gains on disposals of investments – – – 2,600 – –

50% management fees net of tax – – – (374) – –

Taxation credited/(charged) to capital – – – 164 (99) –

Fair value movements† – – – 109 5,563 –

Foreign exchange loss on investments – – – – (114) –

Foreign exchange gains on 
financing loans – – – – 86 –

At 31 December 2006 726 8,598 109 36,560 (12,949) 6,612

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

19. EQUITY CONTINUED

Company Share Capital Capital Capital
Share premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue

capital account reserve realised unrealised reserve
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2005 726 8,598 109 46,817 (27,512) 3,192

Revenue return for the year – – – – – 836

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,089)

Transfer on disposals of investments – – – 1,026 (1,026) –

Gains on disposals of investments – – – 2,125 – –

50% management fees net of tax – – – (374) – –

Taxation credited/(charged) to capital – – – 137 (99) –

Fair value movements† – – – 109 6,157 –

Foreign exchange loss on investments – – – – (86) –

Foreign exchange gains on
financing loans – – – – 10 –

At 31 December 2006 726 8,598 109 49,840 (22,556) 2,939

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.

As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company’s profit and loss account is not separately
presented. The profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 2006 for the Company was £8,815,443.
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19. EQUITY CONTINUED

Group Share Capital Capital Capital
Share premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue

capital account reserve realised unrealised reserve
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2004 (restated*) 835 8,598 – 49,265 (28,490) 7,122

Revenue return for the year – – – – – 897

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,198)

Transfer on disposals of investments – – – (11,311) 11,311 –

Losses on disposals of investments – – – (528) – –

50% management fees net of tax – – – (217) – –

Taxation charged to capital – – – (28) (28) –

Fair value movements† – – – 198 (607) –

Foreign exchange loss on investments – – – – (132) –

Foreign exchange (losses)/gains on 
financing loans – – – (570) 1,013 –

Purchase of own shares 
for cancellation (109) – 109 (4,200) – –

At 31 December 2005 726 8,598 109 32,609 (16,933) 6,821

*Restated for change in accounting policies on first-time adoption of IFRS.

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.
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19. EQUITY CONTINUED

Company Share Capital Capital Capital
Share premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue

capital account reserve realised unrealised reserve
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2004 (restated*) 835 8,598 – 50,915 (26,399) 3,381

Revenue return for the year – – – – – 1,009

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,198)

Transfer on disposals of investments – – – 690 (690) –

Losses on disposals of investments – – – (585) – –

50% management fees net of tax – – – (217) – –

Taxation credited/(charged) to capital – – – 9 (28) –

Fair value movements† – – – 198 (359) –

Foreign exchange loss on investments – – – – (132) –

Foreign exchange gains on
financing loans – – – 7 96 –

Purchase of own shares
for cancellation (109) – 109 (4,200) – –

At 31 December 2005 726 8,598 109 46,817 (27,512) 3,192

*Restated for change in accounting policies on first-time adoption of IFRS.

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.

20. NET ASSETS PER ORDINARY SHARE

The basic total net assets per ordinary share is based on the net assets shown in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet at 31 December 2006 and on 36,287,312 (31 December 2005: 36,287,312) ordinary shares, being
the number of ordinary shares in issue at 31 December 2006. The net asset value per ordinary share includes
current year revenue reserves.

There is no dilution effect and therefore no difference between the diluted total net assets per ordinary share and
the basic total net assets value per ordinary share stated above.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

21. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY HOLDERS’ FUNDS

Group Group
31 December 2006 31 December 2005

£’000 £’000

Opening equity holders’ funds 31,930 37,330

Total recognised gains and losses: revenue 880 897

Total recognised gains and losses: capital 7,935 (899)

Equity dividends (1,089) (1,198)

Purchase of own shares for cancellation – (4,200)

Closing equity holders’ funds 39,656 31,930

22. GUARANTEES, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company has guaranteed all the borrowings of the subsidiary, MIL, in favour of The Governor and
Company of the Bank of Scotland, as lender. These borrowings amounted to £3.7 million as at 
31 December 2006 (2005: £3.5 million).

The unsecured term loan accrues interest at 1.85% over LIBOR or EURIBOR.

The Company has agreed to provide such financial support to MIL as it may require to continue trading as
a going concern.

The Company made a commitment in 2005 to invest up to £10 million in LGV 5. There is an outstanding
commitment of £7.6 million at the year end.

The Company has outstanding commitments in LGV 2, LGV 3 and LGV 4 of £0.3 million, £1.5 million
and £2.5 million, respectively. These are subject to drawdowns for follow-on investments and partnership
fund expenses.

23. INVESTMENT MANAGER’S INCENTIVE SCHEME

Under the terms of the Investment Management Agreement dated 14 February 1994, as subsequently amended,
which remained in force throughout the period, certain directors and managers of LGV are entitled to purchase
7.5% in total of the equity shares or warrants in each of the directly held investments subscribed for by the
Company. This is known as the co-investment scheme. 

These employees of LGV held investments totalling £64,596 as at 31 December 2006 (2005: £421,331). They
may not dispose of their holdings before the Company has had an opportunity to do so.

Since the Company started investing in the LGV Private Equity Limited Partnership Funds (“the Funds”), the
above Investment Manager's co-investment scheme for private equity investments has ceased. It has been
replaced by a carried interest scheme via the Funds. The economic interest of the Investment Manager’s
employees participating in the carried interest scheme is aligned with that of third party investors by co-investing
in the Funds. Certain performance conditions are applied whereby any gains achieved through the carried
interest associated with the Funds are conditional upon a certain minimum return being generated for investors.
The attainment of this minimum return is subject to independent verification by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
in their capacity as auditors of the Funds. 
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiary, which are related parties, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

During the year ended 31 December 2006, the Company entered into the following transactions with
related parties:

(a) Under the Investment Management Agreements dated 28 July 2004 (as amended) and 19 December
1995 (as amended), the Group paid fees totalling £281,957 (2005: £353,151) (inclusive of VAT) to LGV,
of which £67,288 was outstanding at 31 December 2006 (2005: £65,358).

(b) Under the terms of the LGV Limited Partnership agreements, in the event that the income and capital
gains of the partnership in any accounting year are less than the amount to be allocated, any deficiency not
already drawn down by the general partner may be advanced as an interest free loan. In the event that any
part of the general partner’s share then outstanding is subsequently satisfied by an allocation of net income
or capital gains to the general partner, such allocation shall be applied in the discharge of an equivalent
amount of such loan. The Company’s share of the amount appropriated to the general partner was £361,686
(2005: £239,954).

(c) The Company invests in companies and limited partnerships in which other funds managed by LGV 
invest.

(d) Details of the co-investment and the carried interest schemes in which executives and directors of LGV 
participate are given in note 23.

(e) Legal & General Assurance Society Limited held 34.68% of the ordinary share capital of the Company
as at 1 March 2007. The chief executive of the Investment Manager, in his personal capacity, held 3.84% of
the ordinary share capital of the Company as at 1 March 2007.

(f ) Payments made to Directors of the Company are outlined in note 7, of which £19,094 including VAT, 
was outstanding at 31 December 2006 (2005: £17,625).

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company is an investment company as defined by Section 266 of the Companies Act 1985 and
conducts its affairs so as to qualify as an investment trust under the provisions of Section 842 of the Income
and Corporation Taxes Act 1988.

The Group’s financial instruments comprise:

(a) Securities primarily in unquoted companies held in accordance with the Group’s investment objective
set out below (refer note 12). 

(b) Participation in limited partnership funds which invest primarily in unquoted companies held in
accordance with the Group’s investment objective (refer note 12).

(c) A loan facility,  the main purpose of which is to raise finance for the Group’s operations (refer note 16).

(d) Cash and liquid resources that arise directly from the Group’s operations, including gilts and quoted
corporate bonds (refer notes 12 and 14).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

The Group’s current objective is to provide shareholders with long-term capital and income growth by
investing primarily in private equity whilst maintaining its status as a PEP and ISA qualifying investment.
Investments are made with an anticipated holding period of three to five years. Investment agreements will,
however, usually provide that any loans advanced to investee companies are for a longer period than this.
The agreements will usually provide for full repayment on the sale or flotation of investee companies.

In pursuing its objectives, the Group faces risks to both assets and revenue. These risks, and the Board’s
approach to the management of them, which is unchanged from 2005, are as follows:

-

Risk

Credit Failure of investee companies to pay
interest on, or to repay, debt securities
within the prescribed time.

Failure of the Group to meet its banking
covenants due to poor performance of its
investments.

Failure by counterparties to deliver
securities for which the Group has paid, or
to pay for securities which the Group has
delivered.

Liquidity Difficulty in realising assets or otherwise
raising funds to meet commitments
associated with financial instruments.

Management of Risk

The Board manages the credit risk inherent in the
Group’s portfolio by ensuring full and timely
access to relevant information from the
Investment Manager. The Board meets quarterly
and reviews investment performance and the
financial results of the underlying investee
companies.

The Board monitors the Group’s banking
covenants at least quarterly and takes necessary
actions to maintain compliance.

Transactions in unquoted securities are generally
either settled through lawyers or paid to existing
portfolio companies.

The Group’s investments are principally in
unquoted companies which are inherently
illiquid. Equity investments are funded out of
shareholders’ funds. Mezzanine investments are
funded from a mixture of shareholders’ funds and
borrowings. As at 31 December 2006, the Group
had invested £6.4 million in mezzanine loans.
This was matched by £5.6 million of bank
borrowings.

The Group seeks to have cash generally available
to meet short-term financial needs and also has
the power to take out borrowings, both short and
long-term. Its current loan facility is £10 million,
which expires within one year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Risk

Currency The Group’s assets consist of a
combination of sterling and non-
sterling  investments. The value of
non-sterling investments and the
income thereon can change according
to movements in exchange rates.

The value of non-sterling assets can
also change according to the
performance of the investments. Non-
sterling mezzanine assets can be
revalued downwards or written off,
which leaves the loans exposed to
currency fluctuations.

Interest Exposure to interest rate movements
Rate on any mismatch between mezzanine

investments and bank borrowing. 

Exposure to interest rate due to
servicing of non-performing loans.

Market The Group’s assets consist principally
of unquoted investments. The value of
these investments is partially
determined by market forces.

Management of Risk

It is the Group’s policy to offset non-sterling
denominated mezzanine investments using
currency borrowings, so that there is minimal
currency exposure. The Group has exposure to
currency fluctuations on its equity and non-
mezzanine investments. The Board reviews and
agrees the policy for managing these risks at its
quarterly meetings.

When currency assets are revalued downwards or
written off, the related non-sterling loan will be
converted to sterling as soon as practicable.

The Group finances its mezzanine investments
through a loan facility and out of retained profits.
The loan facility is at floating rates of interest.
The interest rate risk on the loan facility is
mitigated by charging interest on the  mezzanine
loan investments at the same rate as the loan
facility plus a margin.

The Group has previously written down some
mezzanine assets on which loan interest is
payable. The Board monitors these exposures
quarterly and has changed its investment strategy
to encourage greater asset growth, in order to
repay these loans.

All the investments of the Group are held at fair
values as at 31 December 2006, in accordance with
the Group’s valuation policy, details of which are
given in note 2.2 (f ) to the Notes to the Financial
Statements. The Board meets quarterly to review
investment performance and financial results. It
monitors compliance with the Group’s objectives
and is responsible for investment strategy, asset
allocation and gearing. 
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Currency and interest rate exposure profiles for financial assets and liabilities are shown below. 

Foreign currency exposures

Foreign Foreign Foreign Net
Foreign currency Foreign currency currency foreign
currency equity currency monetary monetary currency
assets/ investments cash investments liabilities assets
(liabilities) £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2006
Euro – – 6,360 (5,592) 768

31 December 2005
Euro – – 3,924 (3,469) 455

Interest rate exposures
Non-

Floating Floating Fixed interest
rate rate rate bearing Net

assets liabilities assets assets total
Currency £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2006
GB pounds 385 – 25,865 13,045 39,295
Euro 6,360 (5,592) – – 768

6,745 (5,592) 25,865 13,045 40,063

31 December 2005
GB pounds 276 – 24,073 7,804 32,153
Euro 3,924 (3,469) – – 455

4,200 (3,469) 24,073 7,804 32,608

Floating rate assets are subject to interest rates which are reset semi-annually and are based on LIBOR and
EURIBOR plus margins varying between 1% and 4%.

Floating rate liabilities are subject to interest rates at 1.85% over LIBOR and EURIBOR.

The Group has a borrowing facility of £10 million (2005: £10 million) that expires in June 2007. The
undrawn element of this facility is £4.4 million (2005: £6.5 million). 

Fixed rate monetary assets denominated in GB pounds, excluding preference shares which have no maturity,
have a weighted average effective interest rate of 5.1% (2005: 5.4%) and a weighted average maturity of 4.8
years (2005: 3.7 years).

The Group does not trade in financial instruments.
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NOTICE OF MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the seventeenth Annual General Meeting of Mithras Investment Trust plc will be held
at Trinity House, Tower Hill, London EC3N 4DH on Tuesday, 1 May 2007 at 12.00 noon for the purpose of
transacting the following business:

Ordinary business

1 To receive the Directors’ Report and audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2006.

2 To declare that a final dividend of 2.0p per ordinary share of 2 pence each be paid for the year ended 31
December 2006.

3 To declare that a special interim dividend of 1.0p per ordinary share of 2 pence each be paid for the year ended
31 December 2006.

4 To re-elect Mr Leslie Melville as a Director of the Company.*

5 To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the Company, to hold office until conclusion of
the next general meeting at which Financial Statements are laid before the Company.

6 To empower the Directors to fix their remuneration.

Special business:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions of which Resolutions 7 and 8 will be proposed as
Ordinary Resolutions and Resolution 9 and 10 will be proposed as Special Resolutions.

7 To approve the Directors’ Report on Remuneration for the year end 31 December 2006.

8 THAT, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised, pursuant
to Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 (the “Act”), to exercise all powers of the Company to allot relevant
securities (within the meaning of Section 80 of the Act) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £274,254
(being the remaining authorised but unissued share capital on 1 March 2007) in substitution for all previous
such authorities, provided that this authority (unless previously revoked or renewed) shall expire on 11 May
2009 or, if earlier, on the date of the next Annual General meeting of the Company except that the Company
may at any time prior to the expiry of such authority make an offer or agreement which would or might
require relevant securities to be allotted after the expiry of such authority and the Directors of the Company
may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the authority had not expired.     

9 THAT, subject to the passing of Resolution 8 above, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby
authorised, pursuant to Section 95 of the Act, to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 94 of
the Act) pursuant to the authority given in accordance with Section 80 of the Act under the authority
conferred by Resolution 8 above as if Section 89(1) of that Act did not apply to such allotment, provided that
this authority shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities:

(a) in connection with a rights issue in favour of shareholders where the equity securities respectively
attributable to the interests of all shareholders are proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the respective
numbers of shares held by them (subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors of the
Company may think fit in connection with fractional entitlements or legal or practical problems arising
in connection with the laws of, or requirements of, any recognised regulatory body or stock exchange in
any territory); and 
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(b) the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate
nominal value of £36,287 (being 5% of the total share capital in issue on 1 March 2007) and shall expire
fifteen months from the date of the passing of this resolution or, if earlier, on the date of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company except that the Company may, at any time prior to such expiry, make
an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and
the Directors of the Company may allot equity securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if
the power conferred hereby had not expired. 

10 THAT, the Company’s Articles of Association be amended in respect of the fees permitted to be paid to
Directors by changing the amount of “£100,000” specified in the first sentence of Article 82 to an amount of
“£150,000”.

*The recommendation for the re-election of Mr Leslie Melville can be found on page 18. A biography for Mr
Leslie Melville is set out on page 15.

Registered Office By Order of the Board
55 Moorgate, London EC2R 6PA BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited
Registered in England & Wales, No. 2478424 1 March 2007

NOTES

1 In accordance with Regulation 41(i) of the Uncertified Securities Resolutions 2001, only persons entered on
the register of members of the Company by 6.00pm on 29 April 2007 or their duly appointed proxies, shall
have the right to attend or vote at the above Meeting. Changes to entries on the register after this time will
be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the Meeting.

2 A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and
vote in their place. A proxy need not also be a member. To be effective, forms of proxy should be lodged with
the Company’s Registrars, Lloyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6ZR not less
than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting. Lodgement of the form of proxy will not
preclude a shareholder form attending the Meeting and voting in person.  

3 Members (and any proxies or corporate representatives appointed) agree, by attending the meeting, that they
are expressly requesting and are willing to receive any communications relating to the Company’s securities
made at the Meeting.  

4 The register of Directors’ share interests kept pursuant to Section 325 of the Companies Act 1985 and the
Memorandum and Articles of Association are available for inspection during normal working hours at the
registered office of the Company and at the Meeting for a period of 15 minutes prior to and during the
Meeting.

5 None of the Directors has a contract of service with the Company. However, the Directors’ appointment
letters are available for inspection for a period of 15 minutes prior to and during the Meeting.  

NOTICE OF MEETING CONTINUED
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ANNOUNCEMENT OF FINAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

• 1 March 2007

ANNOUNCEMENT OF INTERIM RESULTS FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

• August 2007

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

• 1 May 2007

PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS ON ORDINARY SHARES

Declared 2006:

• Final dividend of 2.00p Paid on 17 May 2006 to shareholders on

the register of members on 24 March 2006.

• Special dividend of 1.00p Paid on 27 October 2006 to shareholders on

the register of members on 29 September 2006.

Declared 2007:

• Final dividend of 2.00p Payable on 8 May 2007 to shareholders on the 

register of members on 9 March 2007.

• Special dividend of 1.00p Payable on 26 October 2007 to shareholders on

the register of members on 29 September 2007.

SHAREHOLDER HELPLINE

0870 601 5366

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
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FINANCIAL ADVISERS AND

STOCKBROKER

JPMorgan Cazenove 
20 Moorgate
London EC2R 6DA

BANKERS

Royal Bank of Scotland plc
Corporate Banking Office
PO Box 450
5-10 Great Tower Street
London EC3P 3HX

Bank of Scotland
The Mound
Edinburgh EH1 1YZ

CUSTODIAN

HSBC Bank plc
Global Investor Services
Mariner House
Pepys Street
London EC3N 4DA

SOLICITORS

Macfarlanes
10 Norwich Street
London EC4A 1BD

ADVISERS

INVESTMENT MANAGER

Legal & General Ventures Limited
Temple Court
11 Queen Victoria Street
London EC4N 4TP
Authorised and regulated by the
Financial Services Authority

SECRETARY AND REGISTERED OFFICE

BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited
55 Moorgate
London EC2R 6PA
Tel: 020 7410 4186
Fax: 020 7477 5849
Email:secretarialservice@uk.bnpparibas.com

REGISTRARS

Lloyds TSB Registrars
The Causeway
Worthing
West Sussex BN99 6DA
Tel: 0870 601 5366
www.shareview.co.uk

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
32 London Bridge Street
London SE1 9SY
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